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Catalyst International, Inc. (NASDAQ: CLYS) delivers reliable, customer-driven software and services that nptimize supply chain performance. With
more than 20 years in complex, high-volume warehouse operations, Catalyst offers an innovative suite of solutions that help glebal Fortune 1,000
customers implement, integrate, manage and operate fast, efficient supply chain networks. Headquartered in Milwaukee, Wiscaonsin, Catalyst serves
customers in 20 countries worldwide.




Financial Highlights

Years Ended December 31, 2001 2000 1999 1998 1997

fin thousands, except per share data)

Total revenues $32,504 $42,010 $40,560 $33,913 $22,525
Total expenses 51,938 41,138 46,746 30,950 27,032
Netincome (loss) {18,926 1,763 {5,613} 3,080 (4,199)
Netincome {loss) per share* (2.38) 0.21 (0.77) 0.42 {0.83)
Total assets 23,891 38,605 35,563 25,557 17,692
Total shareholders’ equity 6,192 25,645 23,281 15,403 9,997

* Computed on the basis described in Note 1 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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When [ arived ac Camlyse lase July, 1 saw an organization with fous
key strengths—and great long-term potential,

First, Catalyse’s 20-year history of innovation has produced the
induserys most feasure-rich warchouse management pladorm—one
uniquely capable of mesting the requirements off oUF trget customer
base of companies with large, highly complex warehouse operations

Second, this functionality has helped Catalyst build a blue=chip
international customer buse—a veritable honor roll of world-class
companies representing diverse industries such as rewil, consumer
goods, ransporation and pares and processed goods.

Third, Catalyst competes in an indusery with an exciting future,
Around the world, companies are reconfguring thelr warchouse
operations, embracing new Web interfaces to strengthen thelr supply
chains and seriving o meet thelr customers” delivery requirements.
As o resule, warchouse menagement and supply cheain execution have
cmenzed g8 misslon-critical activities that are attracting significans
COTPOREE INVESLMERE

Fourth, | inherited an employee base with eustnding domain
expertise. In-depth knowledge of complex warchouse operations is a
povwertul asset we can leveruge tw help our customens reach ehelr specific
business goals—and lead our industry o o higher level of performance.

Yet despiee chese screngehs. it was equally clear to me that Camlyst
had lose fes compass. Service to existing customers was not always
meeting their expecttions. Software upgrades were slow to market
and had become increasingly difficule and costly to inseall. Sales and
marketing efforts were unfocused and ineffective. [There was lietle
commitment o build long-term paraerships with customers. “[he
company relied too heavily on revenue from licensing fees, instead
of strengthening fts value proposition ond pursuing new revenue
channels, And when economic conditions deterinrated and the sales
eyele lengethened, Catalyst had difficuley generating revenue and
alfigning fes cose structure o the curment cconomic condition.

Caralyse’s 2000 financial performance reflects these probiems,
Revenue for 2007 was $32.5 million, significanty below the $42 mik
lion recorded the previous year [The company fecorded @ net loss of
$18.9 million, or ($2.38) per share, compared to net income of $1.8
million, or $0.21 per share, a year ago.

Im the second half of 2001, we touk @ series of wment, declsive
steps to reduce expenses., streamline processes and improve top-line
groweh. These effors have helped us turm the tide and are positioning
the company for a more suceessiul 2002,

o get our expenses under control, we restructused the company &
climinate areas of duplication and ineficiency —and to focus all our
aceivities on creating customer value. We climinated 15 pereent of oue
workforce without seerificing critical domain expertise or disrupting
customer relationships. Bqually impomant, we reallocated human
resouress to crente additional touch poines with our customers, Six
monehs later, we'ne operating with o subscantially lower cost base. And
thanks to our new, company-wide commitment to customer satisfction,
we're recelving o steady flow of correspondence from customers who
have noticed and responded wo our improved performance,

We also took aim gt two processes eritical to our suceess: Produet
development and project implementation. Today’s customers are
loaking for greater fMexibiliey, functionaliey and performance than
ever befure, and we resalved to respond with an entirely new open-
architecture platform chat is casy to inswmll, modify and maintin. "1t
deliver ehis placform on an accekersted tmembie, we brought softwanre
engincering and product mansgement together im a single Munction.
We combined some of our best software development wlent ingo
1 single, dedicated team and introduced & new, more agile approach
that speeds up the product development process. As o resule, we it
the development milestones necessary to deliver the first release of
our revolutdonary new platform. At the same dme, we streamlined
our implementation provess so we could mest our customens’ mose




ggressive timetables. By offering implementation timeline commic-
ments and agreeing o customer-defined accountability metres, we
won four contraces in the fourth quarter elone.

In the recent pase, Gacalyst could rely on external market conditions
to drive top-line groweh. But in today’s environmene, we must create
these opportunities for curselves. We believe the demand bs there—
both within end beyond our current customer base—as some coms=

.. panies conselidute warchouse operations and others expand thelr

footprings. To convert these opporunities into revenue, we'll pursue

the following tacties.

O Leverage our domain expertise to offer a new suite of value-added
services thet includes warchouse business process consulting. optl-
mizadion audits and comprehensive [T facilides management
Because such services nepresent the fastest-growing segments of
the supply chaln exccution market, we believe these services can
make am important contrbution & owr revenue going forward,

0 Callaboraee more closely with SAP tw execute a new action plan for
our parcnership that will enable buth companies to fully benefit
from the relationship. 1 his will involve both investing our resources
to fine-tune our scanderd SAP interface and extending all of our
service offerings to SAP’s customer base,

O Expand our presence in Burope and [Latin America in 2002 before
tangeting the Asia Pacific reglon in 2003,

O Build new relationships within each customer’s organization and
establish for cach customer at least four Catalyse contact points.

O Posidion ourselves s @ prime contrctor whe can Manage new proj
ects from planning design o ongoing operations. This includes
drawing on eur expanding network of allfance parners to cregte
effective, well-integrmeed solutions.

O Become much more aggressive in our pursuit of new sales opportu-
nities. At the Catalyst Supply Chain Forum, in April of 2002, we
launched an aggressive marketing infiative that highlights Caalyse’s
thought leadership, domain expertise, reliable execution and focus
on resules.

In the final analysis, Catalyst will win because of the strength and
commitment of our people. Caralyst’s new management team has the
viston, experience and discipline required to lead ourcompany forwasd.
We've successiully blended new mlent=including EVP-fnance and
CFO David Jacobson, BEYP-sales and marketing Mike Pridavks and
EVP-operacions John Gorman—=with a proven team of experienced
Caralyst veterans. Together, theyve set @ strong example by lstening
and by working to solidify and expand customer relationships.

"These values lie at the heart of an emenging Catalyst culture that
emphasizes customer focus, Individual accounmbilicy and perform-
ance. As an onganiztion, we understand the factors thae drive success.
We've established key performance indicators for everything from rev-
enue per employee w customer sutisfaction. And we're pulling together
o create value for customers, alliance parnerns and sharcholdess alike.

Fiscal 2002 will be o eritical year for Catalyse. Though we espect some
companies t contdnue the “wait and see” approach that extended sales
cycles in 2001, many others—including current Catalyst customers—
are seeking continuous improvement in their supply chain opermtions
and are readly to invest in this mission=criticl funcdon. We are optimistic
that the marketplace will respond favorably to our new software plat-
form, our new suite of services and our powerful value proposition.
Even without 2 significant economic recovery in 2002, we're on erack to
retumm t profieabilicy by year's end and steadily incredse our leadership
pusidion and mardket share as our momentum carmes us forward. | Though
our work fs fae from over, we're enenglzed by the direction we've set,
encouraged by our progress and focused on a much brighter futore.

Respectiully,

James B, "Ireleaven Prasidens and CRO, Apiil 22, 2002
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CASE STUBY #1
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“Mext to newspapers, I'm hard-pressed & mm of a more perishable produst than poultry,” says Larry Brown, diractor of logistics at Perdue Farms. That

; ion window from the time Perdue’s work-in-process arrives at its Mid-Atlantic Beplenishment Center to the time
frush customer-speaif reach end-users. Plus, this process is further complicated hy the unusual amount of data elements that Perdue must
gather and monitor and by Perduc’s absolute adherence to inventory rotation parameters. “Catalyst's inventory management functienality is critical to
this process,” Brown adds. "The soitware tracks and capiures code dates for each item and correlates this data between the source and the destination.
{ i as a work planning and production management tool. With Catalyst’s ‘wave planning’ functionality, we're able to aggregate
rders much more efficientiy than if we treated them individually.”
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Catalyst for Change

If there’s one constant about supply chains, it’s that they operate in a
constant state of flux. That’s especially true for the mission-critical
warehouse management function. Changes in business strategies,
products, customers and vendors require continuous adjustments to
warehouse operations and to the technology that supports them.

It’s no wonder, then, that choosing a warehouse management
system (WMS) has become an important strategic business decision.
For companies with high-volume, complex distribution requirements,
it’s much more than a substantial long-term investment. It’s a complex
information technology initiative that supports strategies for cost
control, productivity improvement, customer relationship management
and quality control. And it requires a broad range of well-orchestrated
activities that often include rethinking processes, reconfiguring inven-
tory and adding unique functionality.

For these reasons, many of the world’s largest, most respected
companies are choosing Catalyst as their supply chain execution partner.
We understand what’s at stake. We know how to collaborate to get the
job done. And by staying involved and delivering ongoing strategic
and technical support, we serve as a catalyst for productive change.

Listening and Learning

During the last half of 2001, Catalyst rededicated itself to helping our
customers succeed. We're asking more questions. We’re listening
better. And we’ve become much more proactive in sharing our
domain expertise to help our customers derive more value from their
supply chains.

For Keith Wing, Catalyst’s director of product consulting, it’s
been a valuable educational process. “Customers told us how much
they value specific vertical market expertise. They also shared the
pressure they feel to extract an even higher return from their supply
chain execution systems—without building their own interfaces.
And they cast a strong vote for the simplicity and flexibility of an open
architecture system. They want something that’s easier to install,
maintain and upgrade—and that integrates with other technologies.”

Angelo Perino, global lead partner for logistics and distribution
with PwC Consulting, a company of PricewaterhouseCoopers, LLP,
has heard similar sentiments in his extensive work with retailers and
manufacturers. “The decision points focus first and foremost on how
well the software fits the customer’s business. But, they're equally
interested in easy integration with their ERP systems, flexibility of
configuration, robust functionality, scalability and also service—since
these facilities often run around the clock.”

It’s also important to understand where each customer’s pain
points are and address them promptly and efficiently. We’ve created
more contact points with each customer so we can gather more infor-
mation about what’s working and what isn’t. And we’re investing the
resources we need to keep our customer relationships strong. “We've
been really impressed with Catalyst’s new management team,” says
Larry Brown, director of logistics at Perdue Farms. “They visited our
replenishment center and corporate offices this fall, and we fleshed
out the unresolved issues attached to some key business objectives.
Now, we've either broken through these issues or have an action plan in
place that gives us confidence we’ll get there soon. This is important,
since we hope to build more in the future and need this operation’s
system to work on all ¢ylinders first.”

Finally, listening means monitoring changing business conditions
and adjusting installed Catalyst systems to support important business
goals. For example, in 2001, Aviall, the world’s largest independent
provider of new aviation parts, moved its warchouse operations into a
new 280,000-square-foot facility in Dallas, Texas. Its vice president
of information services, Joe Lacik, was concerned about ensuring
accuracy and control of as much as $250 million in inventory during
the process. “Caralyst developed a special program that allowed us to
track the movement of inventory with the click of a barcode reader.
Their solution saved us literally thousands of man-hours.”




Catalyst Comprehensive Support
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Supporting Customer-Specific Business and Cperational Geals

Many companies today are bringing a heightened sense of focus and
discipline to their supply chain activities. They understand the critical
impact supply chain execution has on their overall performance, and
they want a clear picture of the value they’ll receive. As Angelo Perino
observes, “With few exceptions, the engagements we’re seeing now
include significant value proposition work at the front end. Companies
are focusing as never before on key performance indicators, business
measures and performance benchmarks.”

At Catalyst, we're helping customers achieve their specific busi-
ness and operational goals. We’re focusing on the areas that matter
most—cost control, productivity, customer satisfaction and quality—
and designing solutions that deliver measurable results. By taking own-
ership of results, we're taking business partnership to a new level. “Most
vendors claim success when they have completed the technical
implementation process and the system goes live,” Perino says. “But
the real story lies in documented benefits to the bottom line in areas
like labor productivity, space utilization and inventory accuracy.”

Our deep understanding of the world’s most complex warechouse
operations gives us a decided advantage, because we know where the
opportunities lie to improve overall performance. For example, when
cost control is an issue, we focus on variables such as inventory levels,
staffing levels, square footage and hours of operation. When a regional
utility centralized its maintenance materials, it was able to reduce its
inventory by 35 percent over a seven-vear period. Over the last three
years, it has also streamlined its processes to meet its goals for reducing
staffing levels. Today, it delivers better overall responsiveness and
processes more materials with significantly fewer people—even after
reducing its warehouse facility’s hours of operation by 50 percent.

We employ an entirely different set of tactics to help customers
improve processes and work more productively. We examine a broad
range of variables—from physical properties to configuration to ware-
house activities to supporting technologies—to find the most efficient
solutions. When we applied this approach to Saks, the result was
faster inventory movement and greater overall accuracy. “Our objective
was to cross-dock 90 percent of our merchandise for same-day receiv-
ing and shipping,” said Ronnie Johnson, vice president strategic
planning. “Thanks to the automated solution Catalyst provides, we
met this goal last year and are now trending at 92-93 percent. That’s a
significant improvement from the 80 percent performance we had
when we scanned each carton and produced each label manually.”

To move the needle on customer satisfaction, we first identify
the key performance metrics our customers are challenged to meet,
then determine the tools to meet and measure them. Legrand, a manu-
facturer of electronic components headquartered in France, has well-
defined customer satisfaction benchmarks. As Eric Seurin, group vice
president purchasing and logistics, explains, “Our goal is to meet all
our weekly, bi-weekly and daily delivery commitments. But beyond
that, we can add extra value by supporting efficient unloading and
distribution on our customers’ delivery docks. Catalyst’s software
includes an automated sorting system that predefines the contents on
each pallet and generates a contents report and label so customers can
quickly and easily dispatch items to the right zones.”

Quality initiatives can range from broad-based Six Sigma programs
to localized efforts to improve inventory accuracy, monitor vendor
performance and comply with industry regulations. Catalyst’s soft-
ware helps track quality performance by providing the functionality
to record item-specific data. “We're a highly regulated industry,”
explains Joe Lacik of Aviall. “And the FAA requires us to track lot
numbers back to the manufacturer. Cartalyst gives us a real-time view of
what’s in our warehouses at all times, but also tight inventory control
so we get the right product to the right customer. In our business,
sending the wrong part could be a disaster.”
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CASE STUDY #2

Wa're getiing
w fleet of aircraft

iokitskilna kdeStinaian
Part oy part.

The Besing Company

Tiree years ago, tie paits supply warchousc that supports prodection of the Boeing C-17 military cargo aircraft faced three critical challenges:
Support the production nf five addilional atreraft per year, reduce the warehouse footprint by at least 50,000 feet to accommodate a broader consolidation
strategy and lower warehouse labor costs. The solution, explains Boeing £-17 warehouse modernization project manager John Horvath, was an
aulomated carouse! system capable of handling over 30,000 part numbers. “For our solution to work, we needed Catalyst to build the interface to our
host system so we could integrate the parts receiving and order closing functions. Catalyst's software also helped us optimize inventory control and
improve productivity by managing location assignments, allocations and first-in, first-out picking. Plus, we are now ready to deploy Catalyst's totai

warehouse control capabilities throughout the C-17 warehouse.”
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Creating Comfort by Managing Risks

As we visited with customers, we wanted to know what keeps them
awake at night—what risks they must successfully navigate to avert
distribution disruption. Armed with this knowledge, we began to
focus on helping them control the product, project and process risks
that can seriously undermine supply chain performance. As Angelo
Perino points out, “Risk management is a huge part of what integrators
do. But vendors need to take ownership of this as well by being
accountable for the functionality of their software, for the integrity of
the modifications they deliver and for the accuracy of the data that’s
collected and distributed.”

Product Risks. Companies can mitigate product risks by choosing
a base WMS product that aligns well with their unique functional
requirements, and that integrates easily with their existing ERP sys-
tem. Additionally, they can maximize their return on investment by
selecting open architecture that gives them room to grow—and that
creates an easy migration path to new technologies.

For a regional utility, making the right system choice resulted in
greater comfort—and better performance. Both factors were critical
given the watchful eye of regulators who track both the total number
of power outages and gas leaks per vear, and the utility’s responsive-
ness in addressing them. “With this regulatory pressure, we knew the
stakes would be high as the customer migrated to a paperless system
and began to rely on radio frequenciés and other technologies to drive
its responses,” says Catalyst’s Renee Lynn, customer support service
representative. “But we’re helping the utility meet the challenge.
When a call comes in on a Saturday at 3:00 a.m., they know they can
quickly get the necessary parts and get on the road.”

Today’s most complex operations, however, bring unique chal-
lenges that stretch the capabilities of even the most flexible, highly
functional platform. In fact, few installed systems rival the one at the
Perdue Farms Mid-Atlantic Replenishment Center. “In a highly
customized operation like ours, off-the-shelf products are out of the

question,” says Larry Brown. “In the end, Catalyst made the system
work in part by building interfaces to five different computer subsys-
tems within our facility.”

Project Risés. As customers know, the real challenge of WMS
installation is often in the details, where a variety of project risks can
quickly lead to escalating costs and expensive delays. We help control
these risks by commitring to mutually-defined performance goals.
And once we begin, our agile methodology charts an efficient course.
This approach worked to perfection when Legrand consolidated its
two France-based existing warehouse and distribution facilities into a
783,000-square-foot central warehouse that houses 20,000 items. For
that to happen on time, all I'T work had to be installed — with modifi-
cations completed — two months before the launch date. “Caralyst
played a pivotal part in the process,” says Eric Seurin. “Its primary role
was to make the software as clever as possible. Catalyst also developed
our most important and complex modifications—a custom interface
with our sorting machine and the capability to plan and manage picking
activity on three levels of the warehouse for optimal efficiency.”

Process Risks. Once WMS systems are installed and operating, it
takes close coordination among people, processes, systems and equip-
ment to reach optimal performance. Cartalyst artacks process risks
with a full toolbox of best practices, support services and technologies
and supply chain process consulting. And over time, we track our
performance against predefined benchmarks and make adjustments
to drive continuous improvement. For Boeing project manager John
Horvath, “The real work began once the interface to our mainframe
was built and installed, and we started loading parts onto the carousels.
We needed job training to help us use our new functions most effi-
ciently. We needed minor improvements to our mainframe systems,
to the Cartalyst software and to our carousels to make them operate
seamlessly. Catalyst has helped us since the first day we went live.
We've worked closely on a number of important processes and system
improvements, and Catalyst has come through on all of them.”




Catalyst Supply Chain Solutions

CatalystCommand™
Supply Chain Software Solutians

™ H

CatalystCare

IT Support
and Facilities

CatalystConnect™
Supply Chain Integration Services

Management

CatalystConsult™

Performance Improvement Services

Investing in Products and Services

For two decades, Catalyst has created value for customers by translat-
ing innovative thinking inte unrivaled functionality and ease of use.
This creative spirit—backed by technical expertise and industry know-
how—rtruly differentiates Catalyst from our competitors. “We've
worked with multiple vendors,” remarks Ronnie Johnson of Saks, “but
the most amazing thing we see is the quality of code that comes out of
Catalyst. Changes and modifications are an inevitable part of the
process, but Catalyst handles them effectively, and they're very
accurate in their testing. As a result, we're always left with a quality
product.” Adds Sony Music SVP-operations Steve Shimp, “We chose
Catalyst in part because we can tie our automation and other support
systems into Catalyst. There’s some interfacing required, but overall
these systems are relatively easy to plug in.”

Catalyst continues to make investments in new products and
services that will lead our customers—and our industry—to higher
levels of performance. In early 2002, we will unveil a newly designed
release of our WMS platform, CatalystCommand™ 9.0. It will set a
new benchmark for customer-driven functionality and for easy inter-
faces to legacy systems, text-based mobile computing devices, ERP
applications, material handling equipment and other applications.

On a parallel path, we are also developing an expanded service
offering that extends our footprint throughout the warehouse to areas
where we can further impact performance. The foundation of our
services will remain our around-the-clock customer support and the
custom development work we do to build in the unique functionality
our customers require. In 2001, this work included a customized
version of our Vendor Quality Management (VQM) system for Saks.
This collaboration resulted in a more efficient way to monitor the
accuracy of incoming shipments and report accuracy performance to
individual vendors.

But going forward, we'll also expand the value-added consultative
services we already provide for customers like Aviall. “Catalyst really
helps the operations part of our company,” says Joe Lacik. “It provides
industry expertise and combines specialized knowledge with software
to provide real business solutions. The expertise of the team—and
the services it provides—are the best differentiators.” In 2002, we’ll
broaden our service basket to include business process development,
pre- and post-installation audits, data analysis and risk assessment and
management. In addition, customers will also have the option of out-
sourcing to Catalyst the management of all warehouse IT operations.

“These new services are a logical step for Cartalyst. They’re also
just what our customers are looking for,” says Emma Jouvente, a
Catalyst customer satisfaction manager from our European office.
“These offerings will encourage more of the kind of close collaboration
that produces real and lasting results.”

It’s a basic law of science that even the smallest shift can spark a
series of changes—becoming the catalyst for a chain reaction. At
Catalyst, the changes we’re making to focus on our customers,
improve our products and expand our services will catapult us—and
our customers—to new levels of performance. We’ll continue to create
change in our industry through innovation and thought leadership.
And we’ll leverage our close connections with our customers to trans-
form change into opportunity.







CASE STUDY #3
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"In the music business, it's important to keep retail cutlets fully stocked with our products.” explains Steve Shimp, SVP-operations at Sony Music. "Young
consumers may be on a mission for one Sony product when they enter the store. But if they don’t find it, they'll buy something else and we'll lose the

host system the real-time inventory data it needs to ceordinate shipping from four national distribution centers that ship approximately 250 million
units of music, video and games per year. Qur software also gives Sony the nimbie functionality it needs to meet customer demands for everything from
consolidated orders deiivered on specific paiiet sizes to compliance {abels. “Since we adopted Catalyst's paperless system,” Shimp concludes, "We've
improved productivity by 23 percent and positioned ourselves to fill the vast majority of shipping requests within 24 hours.”
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PART I

Item 1. Business

GENERAL

Company Background

Catalyst International, Inc. was founded in 1979 and incorporated in the State of Delaware in 1982. Catalyst
provides customer-driven software and services that optimize supply chain performance. Catalyst offers an
innovative suite of supply chain execution (SCE) software products and services, called CatalystComplete™, that
help our customers implement, integrate, manage, and operate fast, efficient supply chain networks.

Catalyst customizes SCE software products and services that add value to the supply chain and minimize risks to
mission-critical operations. We believe that CatalystComplete benefits our customers by delivering both a return on
investment and a return on information. The return on investment is achieved through enhanced operational
efficiencies and improved capital utilization. Catalyst software improves the operational efficiency of distribution
centers by increasing labor productivity through efficient employee scheduling, reduction of downtime, and by
streamlining product flow. The advanced features of our software improve capital utilization by lowering inventory
levels, increasing inventory turns and warehouse efficiencies, and improving space utilization. CatalystComplete
also provides a return on information through improved customer service, enhanced customer satisfaction, and
shortened delivery times. Additional details can be found in the Risk Factors section, Exhibit 99.1.

Products and Technology

Catalyst’s software products can be configured to meet the needs of individual customers by utilizing the following
key attributes:

o A standard warehouse management system (WMS) product;

o A product roadmap designed to accommodate growth, provide ease of upgrade, simplify modification, and
conform to emerging standards;

o Standard interfaces to complementary supply chain software solutions, automation technologies, and add-
on third party software products; and

o A standard implementation methodology.

CatalystCommand™

Our flagship software product, CatalystCommand, manages inventory, space, people, and equipment by controlling
all aspects of warehouse operations, from receiving and storing (putaway) to order selection (picking), loading, and
shipping. Complementary software products provide warehouse automation, add-on warehouse functionality, supply
chain collaboration, and supply chain communication.

Catalyst’s component-based architecture is easily integrated with all pieces in a total SCE solution, including
manufacturing resource planning and enterprise resource planning (ERP) systems, such as SAP™ and Oracle®; and
supply chain planning (SCP) and transportation management systems. CatalystCommand interfaces with a wide
range of automation technology interfaces, such as radio frequency-based scanning and data collection devices, bar
coding devices, voice recognition devices, and material handling equipment (such as conveyors, sorters, and
carousels). CatalystCommand also interfaces with several add-on third party software products that deliver specific
functionality including shipping management, warehouse optimization, and warehouse simulation.

Catalyst software operates in an open system environment allowing customers to use various Unix® operating
systems that work on multiple hardware platforms. In the next few releases, Catalyst technology will become
completely open with regard to operating system platforms, databases, and user-interface devices.

CatalystCommand provides all the basic functions and benefits expected in WMS software, plus the industry-
specific features needed for effective supply chain management in specific industries. While the CatalystCommand
solution can be applied cross-industry, we provide industry-specific features in the following markets: motor
vehicle/parts, retail, consumer goods, and process goods. We continue to enhance our software with new releases

Catalyst International, Inc.
Form 10-K (2001)/ Page !




and interim point releases incorporating new features and functionality that allow our customers to facilitate
competitiveness in their industries.

CatalystCommand™ Release 9.0

We anticipate CatalystCommand Release 9.0 to be generally available early second quarter 2002. Release 9.0 will
significantly enhance CatalystCommand in four areas: technology, material handling support, supply chain
visibility, and WMS functionality.

Technology — Release 9.0 will enhance our mid-tier to be browser independent so that it can run our application on
an additional physical Unix mid-tier or be deployed to run on a single Unix Server (logical mid-tier).

Material Handling Support — Release 9.0 will provide a standard voice recognition picking module and a standard
pick-to-light interface. These modules can be configured by zone and co-exist with other forms of picking. Catalyst
will support picking with four different user interfaces: paper lists or labels, radio frequency, voice, and pick-to-
light.

Supply Chain Visibility — Release 9.0 will introduce a full alerting and messaging strategy to advise users of
exception conditions within the warehouse and system conditions that need to be addressed. All alerts will be 100%
user configurable and outgoing messages can be sent to any SMTP device, including pagers, cellular phones, hand-
held devices, and email. Release 9.0 will also provide the functionality necessary to allow inventory control and
order status checking via the Internet.

WMS Functionality —Release 9.0 will include the security requirement necessary to comply with 21 CFR Part 11, as
mandated by the Federal Drug Administration (FDA). This functionality lays the groundwork for the additional
components including record keeping/auditing and electronic signature, which are planned for release throughout
the remainder of 2002. Release 9.0 will include an optional vendor quality management module that will
significantly reduce receiving time by eliminating detailed receipt checks for suppliers that have a proven record of
compliance without charge back. Release 9.0 will include features to balance the workload across those warehouses
configured with multiple packing stations. There will be an optional pre-shipment blind audit of outbound shipping
containers. The audit percentage can be configured by warehouse zone or by employee to ensure maximum
accuracy of outbound shipments.

CatalystCommand 9.0 continues to offer the following cbmplementary solutions:

CatalystCommand™ Simulator

Catalyst’s warehouse simulation module is an engineering tool that allows customers to experiment with proposed
warehouse changes. Through simulation, CatalystCommand Simulator offers customers a graphic real-time view of
their warehouse and distribution center operations. Able to simulate both current and future envisioned
environments, it interfaces with CatalystCommand to create a baseline for prospective changes in warehouse
operations. Users can simulate the reconfiguration of warehouse layout, equipment, orders, items, staffing, methods
and procedures, and immediately assess the benefits of the intended change.

Designed to reduce risk and cut costs, CatalystCommand Simulator enables users to gauge the impact of retooling
functions prior to making financial or logistical commitments to real world operations. It provides an accurate
barometer that enables users to:

e Fine-tune warehouse operations, layout, equipment, and strategies;
Respond to business changes quickly and easily;

o

o Improve the quality and consistency of project justifications;
o  Design phased introductions by determining the effects of intermediate steps to operations;
o  Establish benchmarks for the measurement and comparison of departments, shifts and/or workgroups; and
o  Test alternative designs for new distribution centers or upgraded equipment.
CatalystCommand™ VQM

The CatalystCommand Vendor Quality Management module (CatalystCommand VQM) helps retailers save time
and improve warehouse productivity, significantly enhancing their business operations. CatalystCommand VQM
provides a real-time tool that identifies specific shipment discrepancies and frequency of issues, which can then be
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communicated to the vendor to prevent future problems. A new class of software, the system will reduce vendor
charge backs, improve relationships between retailers and vendors, and reduce costs by verifying the accuracy of
vendor advanced shipment notice (ASN) data.

This dynamic information exchange is necessary to keep pace with the industry’s needs. CatalystCommand VQM
replaces more error-prone paper-based audits with an electronic auditing procedure to certify vendors’ ASN process
and continually monitor the accuracy of ASN data against actual shipment and carton contents. The audits uncover
vendor compliance issues, identifying the causes and frequency of violations. Results can be used to keep vendors
updated on how well their ASN program is working, so errors can be eliminated before they turn into charge back
issues.

CatalystCommand™ YMS

The CatalystCommand Yard Management System module (CatalystCommand YMS) extends control and visibility
into the supply chain by providing real time access to trailer content early in the supply chain and by providing
control of carriers and trailers in the yard. CatalystCommand YMS prioritizes receipts, manages inbound and
outbound trailers, and improves the customer’s relationships with carriers through objective compliance checking
and rapid access to trailer availability. CatalystCommand YMS provides the user with the ability to:

o Manage the flow of different types of trailers with varying characteristics including length, tare weight,
weight limit, and door type;

o  Automatically assign work in priority order to yard employees, which is synchronized with warchouse
activities;

o  Simplify yard maintenance by supporting the process of receiving and dispatching trailers for multiple
warehouses based upon a single point of entry or exit, as well as multiple points of entry or exit for a single
warehouse;

o Validate the trailers in the yard and their current locations to maintain yard accuracy;

o Improve control of inbound inventory by automatically controlling which trailers are moved to the docks
using the trailer’s priority, keeping dock usage to maximize efficiency;

o Place docks, locations, or trailers on hold;

o  Track key information about carriers that deliver to the warehouse; and

o Improve gate functions by managing entry and exit of trailers from the yard as radio frequency-driven
processes.

CatalystCommand™ Wizard

The CatalystCommand Wizard is a PC-based set-up tool with a graphical user interface that guides users through a
step-by-step configuration of the WMS based on the physical characteristics of their warehouse.

CatalystCommand Wizard works like any other wizard tool and requires the CatalystCommand user to complete a
series of choices in a pre-determined sequence. CatalystCommand Wizard contains a graphical representation of
actual warehouse components, along with descriptions and default data to guide users through a logical progression
of setting up the physical characteristics of their warehouse. Major features include the ability to:

o Set-up vehicles, zones and storage devices within the warehouse;
o  Assign vehicles and storage devices to specific zones and location classes; and
o Define item families and item strategies.

Working in coordination with CatalystCommand, the tool performs a series of validations and edit routines as user
data is entered, ensuring that business rules are enforced. Key benefits of CatalystCommand Wizard include
reduced set-up time and simplification of the set-up process.

Services Qverview

Catalyst offers customers a broad array of implementation and SCE performance improvement services to help
customers take full advantage of our deep understanding of the strategies, processes, and technology that underpin
the most successful distribution centers. We collaborate with our customers from the onset of an engagement to
make certain our software products and services address their priority needs and will work effectively in their
distribution centers.
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Catalyst has several groups responsible for offering services and customer support to ensure customer satisfaction;
these groups include Engagement Services, Customer Education and Training, Customer Support, Consulting
Services, Facilities Management, and Enabling Technologies.

Engagement Services (CatalystConnect™ Implement)

Our Engagement Services group offers a proprietary implementation methodology to ensure that the customer’s
SCE solution is delivered on time, on budget, and on target to meets its business objectives. Catalyst’s
implementation methodology consists of training, business scenario development, configuration of the software, a
conference room pilot (CRP), project management, and implementation support services. The CRP is a critical
element of the Catalyst approach that allows our customers to work hands-on with configured software in a practice
environment at our headquarters. The CRP enables Catalyst and our customers to model warehouse management
operations, prototype and validate customer business requirements, and resolve operating issues prior to live
implementation.

As a principal SAP Logistics Execution Solution (LES) integrator, we are able to leverage our focus on SAP LES
and warehouse management to participate in TeamSAP™ projects along with SAP and other SAP implementation
partners, increasing implementation success and long-term serviceability for SAP LES.

Customer Education and Training (CatalystConsult™ Trainer)

Catalyst’s Customer Education and Training team provides education and training on the use, administration, and
configuration of our SCE software products. Our approach employs a mixture of "train the trainer" and "train the
user." Typically, customer employees from operations and information systems participate in the training. We
provide in-depth documentation, structured training classes, and hands-on training for our software products.
Catalyst University offers a series of continuing education courses for current customers, value added resellers
(VARSs), and other partners.

Customer Support (CatalystCare™)

Our Customer Support group offers customers with assistance 24 hours a day/7 days a week. Following installation
of CatalystCommand, customers receive assistance with the operation of the software and obtain telephone support.
Customer support may be purchased at the customer’s option.

Catalyst developed a world-class customer service center called the Supply Chain Execution Competency Center
(SCE Competency Center) in 1999. The SCE Competency Center supports both SAP LES and Catalyst SCE
software products. As the main customer support center for implementations of SAP LES and Catalyst SCE
software products, we provide training, consulting, support, and product customization services. Under our alliance
with SAP, we deploy our world-class service organization to implement and provide primary support for customer
and TeamSAP partner requests, including a support hot line, implementation services, and on-site support for SAP
LES in North America. Ongoing customer support services monitor system performance and facilitate software
configurations, modifications, upgrades, and troubleshooting, as needed.

Consulting Services (CatalystConsut™)

With our Consulting Services team, we plan to address both the pre-implementation and post-implementation needs
of our customers. This includes pre- and post-implementation audits, physical inventory, item measurement,
warehouse optimization, time-standards development, inbound packaging evaluation, and warehouse simulation.

Facilities Management (CatalystContro/™)

Our Facilities Management representatives will provide the resources and expertise necessary to help customers
manage their supply chain systems and information technology (IT) facilities more efficiently. Services include
scheduled remote machine or database management, full-time on-site WMS and IT infrastructure management and
support as well as temporary assistance from experienced staff. Because each customer has different needs, we
collaborate with each customer to develop a customized service offering with the right level of hands-on support and
the right mix of dedicated and temporary resources, both on-site and on-call.
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Enabling Technologies

Our Enabling Technologies team is on the cutting edge of what is available and practical to interface with a WMS.
We evaluate the usefulness and complexity of integration; whether it's Palm™, Pocket PC™, voice recognition or a
traditional MS-DOS® PC. We offer a turnkey solution on mobile computing purchase, delivery, installation and
set-up to reduce risk and ensure a timely project rollout. We help customers develop and deploy mobile computing
"Best Practices" using the latest interface tools. Other services include initial set-up, configuration and testing for
wireless systems, and technical evaluations of wireless infrastructure, including communications with WMS host,
configuration of screen and/or keyboard, and functional compatibility.

Product Strategy

Catalyst’s strategy is to provide customer-driven, value-added software products based on an open, modular
technology that are focused on our customers’ business goals. Our vision is to be the sole resource our customers
need to install, integrate, and manage world-class SCE software products that minimize risk and maximize the long
term value of our customer’s investment.

Customer-Driven Software Products And Services

Catalyst believes the two keys to world-class performance for tier-one supply chains are automating processes and
enabling simple, real-time communication among people, systems, and equipment. We help customers meet these
needs through software products and services designed for optimal reliability, performance, and flexibility.

Our value-added strategy requires us to be ahead of the curve on industry trends and developments. In the near
future, we see rapid expansion of supply chain visibility software applications to address the industry-wide
information gap that currently exists between SCP and SCE. Tools for tracking the location of inventory or the
status of orders throughout the supply chain will become commonplace. As collaborative commerce becomes an
integral component of world-class customer service, new software applications will be developed featuring
sophisticated capabilities for planning, forecasting, and harvesting business intelligence — both from the SCP and
SCE sides of the enterprise. Such software, for example, will be able to identify capacity constraints in all facets of
the supply chain, including transportation, global logistics, and distribution. To that end, Catalyst’s strategy
includes:

o  Continuing to implement our technology vision toward a fully component based architecture, database and
platform independence, and conformance to emerging technology standards;

o  Enhancing the information flow between our existing supply chain partners;

o  Developing additional value-added software applications that transact with multiple business partners
within the supply chain;

o  Providing functionality that will give users a corporate view of inventory in a multiple distribution center
environment with the capability to it specific at the store or customer level;

o  Taking the next steps with our messaging and alerting capabilities and developing actionable, intelligent
response mechanisms to rapidly handle exception events;

o  Forging new partnerships to meet these needs and broadening our footprint in the SCE market; and

o  Developing integrated feedback capabilities in our software products to support predictive analysis and
enable automatic rebalancing of inventory, schedule, and order handling.

The net effect of these anticipated developments will be significant increases in inventory velocity and process
efficiency while enabling customers to lower system inventory carrying levels without increasing risk.

Within the “fence” of the distribution/warehouse facility, Catalyst will continue to expand our deep product
functionality to provide more attractive, modular software products to our selected vertical markets. We expect to
achieve formal FDA certification compliance to 21 CFR Part 11 requirements for security, electronic records
validation, and electronic signature verification, which we believe will evolve into the de facto standard
methodology for software development. We will continue to focus on planning and simulation software tools that
give a clearer, more detailed picture of critical personnel, equipment, and space requirements earlier in the cycle.
Current add-on software products such as CatalystCommand VQM, CatalystCommand Simulator, and
CatalystCommand YMS modules will become WMS independent, and CatalystCommand will also become platform
and database independent. We will continue to embrace new technologies — and work with innovative partners — to
maintain an industry leading position.
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From a services and software products perspective, we will move aggressively to expand our already robust services
and implementation skills beyond our own product offerings. Catalyst, which currently supplies multiple levels of
support for SAP’s LES, will provide after-market support services for additional partner products central to the
supply chain. In addition, we will improve our skill sets to provide implementation services and ongoing technology
infrastructure management options for our customers.

Strategic Alliances

Catalyst intends to provide expanded capabilities to our software products through key strategic alliances. We have
not only relied on our own innovations and internal capabilities, but the technology, skills, and knowledge of other
leading vendors in the supply chain industry. Many components of CatalystComplete are made available through
our supply chain software partners.

In 1999, Catalyst and SAP AG, a leading supplier of ERP software, entered into an advanced strategic alliance. In
connection with this alliance, SAP America, Inc., a subsidiary of SAP AG, acquired, at the time of purchase, 2 9.7%
equity stake in Catalyst. Understanding the mission critical role warehousing and distribution play in a company’s
ability to compete and differentiate themselves, SAP named Catalyst as SAP’s preferred solution to meet the high-
volume, complex environments of today’s warehouse. We believe that this alliance should lead to a long term
collaborative relationship focused on providing supply chain excellence.

To provide a complete product offering for our customers, Catalyst and SAP initiated joint programs to set a new
standard for integration. These include the joint development of the SAP advanced interface for integrating
CatalystCommand and SAP’s LES with R/3™ and mySAP.com™, the designation of Catalyst as a principal service
provider for implementation and modification of SAP’s LES, and having Catalyst serve as the primary North
American support center for SAP’s LES software products. We believe our customers will benefit from the
complementary expertise of the two companies and that we are well positioned to extend our market presence.

Develop Additional Markets

Catalyst has customers in several different industries, falling into several major vertical market categories. Our
vertical market strategy targets industries that have the most demanding supply chain requirements, since this will
enable us to leverage our expertise and experience for competitive advantage. We have a dedicated sales group for
each of our vertical markets — motor vehicle/parts (including automotive, aerospace, and parts distribution), retail,
consumer goods, process goods (including pharmaceuticals and specialty chemicals), and cross-industry applications
— which will continue to be our primary focus for the next 12 to 24 months. These sales teams will also explore
opportunities to expand our presence in sub-categories of these markets (e.g., discount stores and direct-to-consumer
in the retail sector), as well as selected horizontal markets (e.g., third party logistic providers).

Catalyst supports the needs of various distribution models including traditional distribution, push/pull, flow, Internet
fulfillment, and a combination of both. We believe the expertise we have developed in each of these markets
through our customer base provides us with a significant competitive advantage in selling to prospective customers
where similar functionality is required.

Expand Worldwide Distribution

Catalyst’s United Kingdom subsidiary, Catalyst WMS International Limited, was established in 1994 in London,
England to sell, service, and support Catalyst software products in certain international markets. We plan to
continue to increase our international business through an aggressive effort to recruit and manage value added
resellers (VARS) in selected foreign markets, such as the fast-growing markets of Latin America and Europe. These
VARs work together with Catalyst personnel in obtaining agreements for global, multi-site installations with multi-
national customers. CatalystCommand is currently available in English, French, Italian, Portuguese, German, and
Spanish.

Evaluate Acquisition Opportunities

We intend to pursue strategic acquisitions of technologies, products, and businesses that enable us to enhance and
expand our software products and service offerings.
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Product Development

Catalyst offers a collaborative information-rich suite of products and services that provides complete SCE
functionality for supply chains worldwide. We intend to continue to introduce new products and service offerings,
upgrade the functionality of our existing products, and establish partnerships to support this strategy. We work
closely with our customers and prospective customers to understand their requirements and to design enhancements
and new products and services that meet their needs. All product development is performed by our employees or by
contract personnel under our management. Product development costs were $5.2 million in 2001, $5.3 million in
2000, and $7.6 million in 1999,

Sales and Marketing

Catalyst markets and sells software and services in North America, Europe, and Latin America through direct sales
and channel partner organizations. Our products are operating in Australia, Brazil, Canada, El Salvador, France,
Germany, Guatemala, Holland, Italy, Mexico, Spain, and the United Kingdom. Our UK subsidiary is responsible
for the sale, service, and support of Catalyst software products in certain international markets.

In Latin America and Europe, Catalyst utilizes the assistance of VARs to sell and assist in implementation and
support of our software products. We plan to continue strengthening our presence in these regions through our
relationships with supply chain participants and enterprise software vendors and by developing close relationships
with system integrators in those regions.

To support our sales force, we conduct comprehensive marketing programs which include direct mail, public
relations, seminars, trade shows, joint programs with vendors and consultants, and ongoing customer
communication programs. Our sales cycle begins with the generation of a sales lead or the receipt of a request for
proposal (RFP) from a prospective customner, which is typically followed by the qualification of the lead or prospect,
an analysis of the customer's needs, response to the RFP, one or more presentations or product demonstrations, a
visit to a similar or representative warehouse running our software products, and finally, contract negotiation and
execution.

Catalyst believes that, with over 20 years of experience in the WMS industry, our software is established, proven,
and accepted in the marketplace. We further believe that the level of expertise found throughout our organization
includes some of the best in the industry in design, development, implementation, and support. Catalyst has created
a team of employees, vendors, and consultants who are recognized as experts and leaders in their respective fields,
which allows us to provide our customers with a strong resource of products, services, and knowledge. This
resource should help our customers stay competitive in their respective industries.

As of December 31, 2001, the sales and marketing organization was based in Catalyst's headquarters in Milwaukee,
Wisconsin, in the London office, and in satellite offices located throughout the United States.

Proprietary Rights and Licenses

Catalyst relies on a combination of copyright, trademark and trade secret laws, confidentiality procedures, license
agreements, and other contractual provisions to protect our proprietary information. We have no patents or patent
applications pending. Due to the rapid pace of change in the computer software industry, we believe that trade
secret and copyright protection are less significant in affecting our business, results of our operations, or financial
condition than factors such as the knowledge, ability, and experience of our employees, frequent product
enhancements, and timeliness and quality of support services. Catalyst typically grants the right to use Catalyst
software products under a perpetual license, which is generally non-transferable and solely for the customer's
internal operations at designated sites. Under the terms of our license agreements, Catalyst generally owns all
modifications to our software that are developed and implemented for a customer.

Catalyst is not aware that our products, trademarks, or other proprietary rights infringe the property rights of third
parties. As the number of software products in the industry increases and the functionality of these products further
overlap, we believe that software developers may become increasingly subject to infringement claims. Any such
infringement claims, with or without merit, could be time consuming and result in costly litigation or damages. See
Proprietary Rights and Licenses in Exhibit 99.1.
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Customers

Catalyst’s mission is to be the dominant firm in the tier-one market segment. Tier-one customers are characterized
by the size, complexity, and volume of their distribution facilities and supply chain network. While most Fortune
1000 firms are tier-one, the segment is not limited to these firms. Tier-one distribution facility characteristics
typically include: size of 200,000 square feet or more, volumes of 10,000 items per day or more, at least 75
concurrent users, extensive use of automated material handing equipment, radio frequency devices, and bar coding,
complex warehousing strategies, and other non-standard requirements such as hazardous materials, refrigeration,
etc.

In the year ended December 31, 2001, Catalyst had no customers that accounted for more than 10% of total
revenues. We do not believe that the loss of any single customer would have a material adverse effect upon our
business, results of operations, or financial condition.

Catalyst has historically relied on its key vertical markets for a substantial portion of revenues. We do not, however,
intend to focus solely on these markets for future sales and do not anticipate that we will depend on any single
market for a substantial portion of our sales.

As of December 31, 2001, backlog was approximately $6.5 million, compared with approximately $5.8 million as of
December 31, 2000. We believe that all backlog amounts should be filled in 2002. For these purposes, backlog is
defined as revenues to be recognized from contracts that have been signed.

Competition

The SCE software industry continues to be highly fragmented with a number of competitors. Catalyst’s
competitors, including publicly and privately held companies, focus either on WMS or SCE, or offer a
comprehensive software offering of which warehouse management is a part.

The competitive factors affecting the market for our software and services include: corporate and product reputation,
features and functionality, vertical market expertise, customer configurability, effective and timely implementation,
availability of products on open computer platforms, ability to interface with existing customer’s equipment and
systems, ability to support radio frequency and bar code technology, quality of support services, real-time
capabilities, RDBMS technology, scalability, international capabilities, documentation and training, product quality,
performance, and price. We believe that we compete effectively with respect to these factors, but there can be no
assurance that we will continue to do so. See Competition in Exhibit 99.1.

Employees

As of December 31, 2001, Catalyst had 250 full-time employees worldwide, none of whom were represented by any
collective bargaining organization. We have never experienced a work stoppage and consider relations with our
employees to be good.

Item 2. Properties

Catalyst’s corporate headquarters is approximately 62,000 square feet of leased office space in Milwaukee,
Wisconsin. The term of the lease expires in January 2006, but Catalyst has the option to extend such term for an
additional ten-year period. We lease approximately 6,500 square feet of additional office space in Milwaukee,
Wisconsin. The term of this lease also expires in January 2006. Finally, Catalyst WMS International Limited leases
approximately 6,000 square feet of office space in London, England, pursuant to a lease that expires in 2003. We
believe that these existing facilities should be adequate for our needs through 2002.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

On October 8, 1999, a former customer (the Claimant) instituted an arbitration proceeding against Catalyst with the
American Arbitration Association in Milwaukee, Wisconsin. The Claimant alleged breach of warranty and sought
relief in the form of monetary damages in excess of $1.9 million. An arbitration award was issued on January 2,
2002 in favor of the Claimant in the amount of $799,840, plus interest at 5% from December 7, 2001. We filed a
motion to vacate this award for non-compliance with the applicable arbitration procedures. On January 29, 2002,
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the Claimant filed a petition to confirm the award. At this stage in the proceedings, it is not possible to predict the
probable outcome of either our motion or the Claimant’s petition. We believe that because we have adequately
reserved for this matter, the outcome of this proceeding will not have a material effect on our financial position or
results of operations.

Catalyst is involved in various other claims and legal matters of a routine nature which are being handled in the
ordinary course of business. Although it is not possible to predict with certainty the outcome of these unresolved
claims and legal matters or the range of possible loss or recovery, we believe that these unresolved claims and legal
matters will not have a material effect on our financial position or results of operations.

Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders

No matters were submitted to a vote of security holders during the fourth quarter of 2001.

PART IT

Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Commeon Equity and Refated Shareholder Matters

Shares of Catalyst’s common stock are quoted on the Nasdaq National Market System under the symbol CLYS.
The following table represents the high and low price information for Catalyst’s common stock for each quarterly
period within the two most recent fiscal years.

2001 2000
High Low High Low
Quarters ended March 31, $ 8.063 $ 4.750 $15.375 $11.500
Quarters ended June 30, 5.500 2.120 12.500 6.000
Quarters ended September 30, 3.960 1.560 8.625 4.375
Quarters ended December 31, 3.910 1.520 5.000 3.500

Source: Nasdaq Online™ Internet Site

On March 26, 2002, there were approximately 1,550 beneficial owners, 145 of which 145 were record holders.

Prices listed above are determined by the over-the-counter market and as such, over-the-counter market quotations
reflect inter-dealer prices, without retail mark-up or commission, and may not necessarily represent actual
transactions.

Catalyst has never paid cash dividends on its common stock. Our policy has been to retain cash from operations to
provide funds for the operation and expansion of our business. Accordingly, we do not anticipate paying cash
dividends in the foreseeable future.
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Jtem 6. Selected Financial Data

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
(In thousands, except per share data)

Years Ended December 31, 2001 2000 1999 1998 1997
Consolidated Statements of Operations Data:
Revenues:

Software $ 2,760 $8451 $7,575 $8,741 $7,007

Services and post-contract customer support 23,960 28,222 25,599 21,890 14,637

Hardware 5,784 5,337 7,386 3,282 881
Total revenues 32,504 42,010 40,560 33,913 22,525
Cost of revenues:

Software 963 797 606 525 524
Services and post-contract customer support 17,681 16,632 14,921 14,583 13,745
Hardware 4,840 4,361 6,260 2,759 766
Total cost of revenues 23,484 21,790 21,787 17,867 15,035
Gross margin 9,020 20,220 18,773 16,046 7,490
Operating expenses:

Product development 5,200 5,301 7,638 3,412 2,731
Sales and marketing 9,008 9,254 7,159 5,494 5,291
General and administrative 6,622 4,793 6,574 4,177 3,975
Restructuring and other charges 1,927 - 398 - -
Asset impairment charges 5,697 - 3,190 - —
Total operating expenses 28,454 19,348 24,959 13,083 11,997
Income (loss) from operations (19,434) 872  (6,186) 2,963 (4,507
Qther income, net 508 891 573 217 308
Income (loss) before provision for income taxes (18,926) 1,763 (5,613) 3,180 (4,199)
Provision for income taxes - - - 100 -
Net income (loss) $(18,926) $1,763  $(5,613) $3,080 $(4,199)
Net income (loss) per share — diluted $ (238 $ 0.21 $(0.77) $ 042  $(0.63)
Shares used in computing diluted net

income (loss) per share 7,962 8,452 7,288 7,383 6,630
Consolidated Balance Sheet Data:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 7,906 $21,201 $21,169 $8555 $4,256
Working capital 1,554 19,773 20,388 9,530 6,673
Total assets 23,891 38,605 35,563 25,557 17,692
Long-term debt, less current portion 30 166 181 412 443
Total shareholders’ equity 6,192 25,645 23,281 15,403 9,997
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Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Management’s Discussion and Analysis contains statements that are forward-looking. These statements are based
upon current expectations and assumptions that are subject to risks and uncertainties. Actual results could differ
materially due to of factors discussed in Exhibit 99.1.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Revenue Recognition

Catalyst derives revenue from the sale of software, services and post-contract customer support (PCS), and
hardware. PCS includes telephone support, bug fixes, and rights to upgrades on a when-and-if-available basis.
Services range from installation, training, and basic consulting to software modification and customization to meet
specific customer needs. In software arrangements that include rights to multiple software products, specified
upgrades, PCS and/or other services, Catalyst allocates the total arrangement fee to each deliverable based on the
relative fair value of each of the deliverables determined based on vendor-specific objective evidence.

Software

For software with insignificant modifications, Catalyst recognizes that portion of the revenue allocable to software
and specified upgrades upon delivery of the software product or upgrade to the end user, provided that it is
considered collectible. For software with significant modifications, Catalyst recognizes the revenue allocable to the
software on a percentage of completion method, with progress to completion measured based upon labor time
expended.

Post-Contract Customer Support
Revenue allocable to PCS is recognized on a straight-line basis over the period the PCS is provided.
Services

Arrangements that include professional services are evaluated to determine whether those services are for
modification of the software product or for the normal implementation of Catalyst software products. When
professional services are considered part of the normal implementation process, revenue is recognized monthly as
these services are invoiced. When professional services are for a modification of the software itself, an evaluation is
made to determine if the modification requires more than 50 person-days of work. If the modification will exceed
50 days of effort, revenue is recognized using contract accounting on a percentage completion method with progress
to completion measured based upon labor and time expended. When the modification is estimated to be fewer than
50 days, the revenue is recognized as invoiced.

Hardware

Revenue on hardware is recognized when the hardware is shipped by the hardware vendor and title has transferred
to the customer.

Contract Accounting

For arrangements that include significant customization or modification of the software, revenue is recognized using
contract accounting. Revenue from these software arrangements is recognized on a percentage of completion basis,
with progress to completion measured based upon labor time expended. Catalyst reserves for project cost overruns
when such overruns are identified. We recognize project cost overruns where we will exceed our budgeted number
of days on a project. The overrun is based on a standard cost per day.

Allewance for Doubtfuf Accounts

We evaluate the collectibility of our accounts receivable based on a combination of factors. We recognize reserves
for bad debts based on the length of time the receivables are past due ranging from 5% to 100% for amounts more
than 120 days past due for which a corresponding deferred revenue does not exist. Specific customer reserves are
based upon our assessment of deviations in historical payment trends, the age of the account, and ongoing
communications with our customers by both the finance and sales departments. For amounts less than 120 days past
due, a small percentage is typically reserved based upon our historical experience. If circumstances change (i.e.,
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higher than expected defaults or an unexpected material adverse change in a major customer’s ability to meet its
financial obligations to us), our estimates of the recoverability of amounts due us could be reduced by a material
amount.

Legal Accruals

As discussed in Note 10 of our consolidated financial statements, as of December 31, 2001, we have accrued our
best estimate of the probable cost for the resolution of a claim with a former customer. This estimate has been
developed in consultation with outside counsel. To the extent additional information arises or our strategies change,
it is possible that our best estimate of our probable liability in this matter may change.

Catalyst is involved in various other claims and legal matters of a routine nature which are being handled in the
ordinary course of business. Although it is not possible to predict with certainty the outcome of these unresotved
claims and legal matters or the range of possible loss or recovery, we believe that these unresolved claims and legal
matters will not have a material effect on our financial position or results of operations.

Impairment Charges

We review our long-lived assets for impairment whenever events or circumstances occur which indicate that we
may be unable to recover the recorded value of the affected long-lived assets. In the year ended December 31, 2001,
we reviewed the carrying values of certain licensed technology and capitalized software development costs and
recorded an impairment charge to adjust the carrying values of such assets to their estimated fair market values.

REVENUE

Catalyst’s revenues are derived from software, services and PCS, and hardware. Total revenues decreased by 22.6%
to $32.5 million in 2001 and increased by 16.3% to $42.0 million in 2000. We believe that the decline in total
revenues in 2001 was due primarily to fewer new products and services sold resulting primarily from project delays
and longer sales cycles tied to global economic conditions. The following table sets forth, by category, revenues and
percentage change year-over-year for the years indicated:

Net Revenues Percentage Change
(In thousands) (Year-over-year)
2001 2000 1999 2001 2000
Software $ 2,760 $ 8,451 $7,575 (67.3%) 11.6%
Services and PCS 23,960 28,222 25,599 (15.1) 10.2
Hardware 5,784 5,337 7,386 8.4 (27.7)

International revenues decreased 18.8% to $5.1 million in 2001 and decreased 16.3% to $6.3 million in 2000.
International revenues accounted for 15.8% and 15.1% of total revenues in 2001 and 2000, respectively. The
decrease in international revenues in 2001 and 2000 occurred primarily to a decrease in software revenues
attributable to international customers in those years.

We believe that revenues may increase due to enhanced worldwide sales and marketing efforts, our strategic alliance
with SAP America, Inc. and SAP AG, the introduction of new products, efforts to deliver standard packaged
solutions that meet the requirements of our vertical markets, and the maturation of our sales force. We expect that
as economic conditions improve and prospective customers begin to benefit from that improvement, we will see an
increase in new sales activity.

Software

Software consists of revenues from the sale of Catalyst’s products and related add-on third party software products.
Software revenues decreased by 67.3% to $2.8 million in 2001 and increased by 11.6% to $8.5 million in 2000.
Software revenues may fluctuate based upon the size and quantity of new or add-on license agreements, as well as
the progress toward completion for contracts that are accounted for using contract accounting.

Catalyst follows the software revenue recognition practices set forth in Statement of Position 97-2, “Software
Revenue Recognition,” as amended, as issued by the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants. For
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projects requiring “significant” modifications to our products, we use contract accounting procedures based upon
percentage of completion to recognize revenue, provided that such amounts are reasonably collectible. Software
revenue for projects with few or no modifications is recognized upon reaching contract milestones, to the extent that
payment is fixed and determinable and considered collectible.

Services and PCS

Services and PCS revenues are derived from software modifications, professional services, and PCS agreements.
Services and PCS revenues decreased by 15.1% to $24.0 million in 2001 and increased by 10.2% to $28.2 million in
2000. The following table sets forth the components of services and PCS revenues as a percentage of total revenues
for the years indicated:

2001 2000 1999
Software modifications 20.1% 17.8% 17.2%
Professional services 25.2 28.0 28.7
PCS agreements 28.4 214 17.2
73.7% 67.2% 63.1%

Software modifications are determined during the customer’s CRP and consist of changes to the software to
facilitate specific functionality desired by the customer. We believe that as we sell CatalystCommand and other
products, future modification revenues as a percentage of total revenues could decrease due to the increased
functionality of newer releases of our products; however, the relationship is dependent upon the variety of
modifications that the individual customer specifies.

Professional services revenues are derived from implementation services, performance of the CRP, technical
services, project management, and education services. Professional services revenues decreased in 2001 due to
fewer new products sold. Professional services revenues are recognized based on the number of days of work
actually performed.

Customers typically enter into an agreement for PCS at the time they license CatalystCommand and, generally pay
for the first year of PCS in advance. PCS revenues are recognized ratably over the term of the PCS agreement. The
increase in PCS revenues in 2001 was due primarily to new PCS agreements and to existing PCS agreements. We
believe that PCS revenues should increase as existing PCS agreements are renewed, new software products are sold,
and our markets are expanded.

Hardware

Hardware consists primarily of computer hardware, radio frequency equipment and printers that we sell to our
customers on behalf of hardware and other equipment manufacturers. Hardware revenues increased by 8.4% to $5.8
million in 2001 and decreased by 27.7% to $5.3 million in 2000. Hardware revenues may fluctuate depending on
the size of new product sales and add-on sales to existing customers.

OPERATING EXPENSES

Cost of Seftware

Cost of software consists of the cost of related add-on third party software products and the amortization of
capitalized software development costs. The cost of software was $963,000, $797,000, and $606,000 in 2001, 2000,
and 1999, respectively. The increase in cost of software was due to the amortization of certain capitalized software
costs. We anticipate that the cost of software for third party products should remain relatively constant as a
percentage of related third party software revenues.

Cost of Services and PCS

Cost of services and PCS consists primarily of personnel and related costs for the performance of software
modifications, professional services, and PCS. Cost of services and PCS as a percentage of services and PCS
revenues were 73.8%, 58.9%, and 58.3% in 2001, 2000, and 1999, respectively. Cost of services and PCS increased
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in 2001 as a percentage of total services and PCS revenues due to a decrease in related revenues without a
corresponding reduction in cost. As we continue to expand our services offering and allocate resources towards
providing new services to our customers, we believe that the cost of services and PCS as a percentage of related
revenues will depend on the quantity and mix of new contracts signed.

Cost of Hardware

Cost of hardware consists of the cost of computer hardware, radio frequency equipment, and printers sold by us on
behalf of the equipment manufacturers. We do not inventory or service hardware items, but make them available to
customers who desire a turnkey solution. Cost of hardware was $4.8 million, $4.4 million, and $6.3 million in 2001,
2000, and 1999, respectively. As a percentage of hardware sales, the cost was 83.7%, 81.7%, and 84.8% in 2001,
2000, and 1999, respectively. We expect that cost of hardware as a percentage of hardware revenues should remain
relatively constant.

Product Development

Product development costs are expenses associated with research and development, including costs of engineering
personnel and related development expenses such as software tools, training, and documentation. Product
development costs decreased slightly to $5.2 million in 2001 and decreased by 30.6% to $5.3 million in 2000.
Product development costs remained relatively constant in 2001 due primarily to continued focus on enhancing our
software offering. Product development costs represented 16.0%, 12.6%, and 18.8% of total revenues in 2001,
2000, and 1999, respectively. We believe that product development costs may increase as a percentage of total
revenues as new initiatives are identified and executed.

Sales and Marketing

Sales and marketing expenses consist primarily of salaries; commissions; and marketing, promotional and travel
expenses paid to or on behalf of sales and marketing personnel. Sales and marketing expenses decreased slightly to
$9.0 million in 2001 and increased by 29.3% to $9.3 million in 2000. In general, the decrease in sales and
marketing expenses in 2001 was due to cost control measures implemented during the second half of the year to
reduce overall expenses. Sales and marketing expenses represented 27.7%, 22.0%, and 17.7% of total revenues in
2001, 2000, and 1999, respectively. We anticipate that sales and marketing expenses as a percentage of total
revenues may decrease due to the continuation of the cost control measures which were implemented during the
second half of 2001.

General and Administrative

General and administrative expenses consist primarily of the salaries of administrative, executive, finance, human
resource, and quality assurance personnel. General and administrative expenses increased by 38.2% to $6.6 million
in 2001 and decreased by 27.1% to $4.8 million in 2000. General and administrative expenses represented 20.4% of
total revenues in 2001, 11.4% in 2000, and 16.2% in 1999. In 2001, general and administrative expenses increased
as a percentage of total revenue compared to 2000 due to certain additional legal reserves and expenses and charges
to the allowance for doubtful accounts, which were not incurred during the same period in 2000. We expect that
general and administrative expenses may decrease as a percentage of total revenues as we believe we have
adequately provided for any risks known or anticipated at this time.

QOTHER OPERATING EXPENSES, INVESTMENT INCOME (LOSS), AND INCOME TAXES

Restructuring, Impairment, and Other Charges

During 2001, there were several events that resulted in an aggregate charge of $7,623,964, which represented
restructuring and other charges of $1,927,098 and asset impairment charges of $5,696,866. The former president

and chief executive officer resigned in March 2001. Catalyst recorded charges aggregating $1,130,949 relating to
amortization of a non-compete agreement and other expenses related to his resignation. In the third quarter of 2001,
Catalyst initiated a restructuring plan and overall workforce reduction of approximately 15%. Charges of $796 149
were recorded for severance payments and outplacement services related to this workforce reduction. Catalyst also
reviewed the carrying values of certain licensed technology and capitalized software development costs and
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recorded an impairment charge of $5,696,866 to adjust the carrying values of such assets to their estimated fair
market values. All cash expense amounts were disbursed in the year ended December 31, 2001, except for
approximately $183,000, which will be paid out in 2002. The obligations under the non-compete agreement are also
payable in 2002.

During the third quarter of 1999, Catalyst initiated a restructuring plan to discontinue development of its Windows
NT® based product and close its Orlando, Florida office. The restructuring plan was put in place due to the
Strategic Alliance Agreement with SAP AG. Because of the Strategic Alliance Agreement, Catalyst made
significant management changes and further expanded its marketing efforts to increase exposure of its Unix WMS
products and services.

Restructuring and impairment charges during the year ended December 31, 1999 amounted to $3,587,665 and
included severance payments made to seven employees ($325,000); office and equipment lease cancellations
($25,000); write-off of intangible assets, including purchased software and capitalized software development costs,
assembled workforce, customer list, and goodwill ($3,190,000); and other miscellaneous expenses ($48,000). All
cash expense amounts were disbursed in the year ended December 31, 1999.

Other Income and Expense

Other income consists primarily of interest income and interest expense and does not have a material impact on
operating results. Catalyst expects that other income may decrease in the future as interest income decreases due to
lower invested cash balances and an anticipated decline in interest rates.

Income Tax Expense

At December 31, 2001, Catalyst was not subject to regular income taxes because we had net operating loss carry-
forwards of approximately $28 million for federal and state income tax purposes. We were not subject to alternative
minimum tax (AMT) in 2000. In 2001 and 1999, no income tax expense was recorded as we incurred a net loss for
both financial and income tax reporting purposes. No net deferred tax expense (credit) was recorded in any of the
three years reported as we continue to record a valuation allowance to reserve for the net deferred tax asset.

Liguidity and Capital Resources

In 2001, Catalyst used $13.3 million in cash; $3.9 million was used in operating activities, $8.6 million was used in
investing activities for capital expenditures, capitalized software development costs, and the purchase of licensed
technology offset by the proceeds from the sale of equipment and internal use software; $263,000 was used for
payments on long-term debt; and $548,000 was used to purchase common stock for treasury. In 2000, we generated
$31,000 in cash; $4.3 million was generated by operating activities, $4.5 miilion was used in investing activities for
capital expenditures and capitalized software development costs, $1.1 million was generated by employees’ exercise
of stock options, $404,000 was used for payments on long-term debt and $482,000 was used to purchase common
stock for treasury.

Capital expenditures totaled $1.1 million, $2.7 million, and $837,000 in 2001, 2000, and 1999, respectively. Capital
expenditures decreased in 2001 due to cost control measures implemented during the second half of the year.

In 2001, Catalyst repurchased 257,944 shares of common stock under provisions of a stock repurchase program
adopted by the board of directors on March 21, 1996. In 2000, Catalyst repurchased 99,068 shares of common stock
under this program.

As of December 31, 2001, Catalyst had $7.9 million in cash and cash equivalents and working capital of $1.6
million. We have a $5.0 million line of credit (the Revolving Credit Facility) with Bank One, Milwaukee,
Wisconsin. The Revolving Credit Facility bears interest at the prime rate, or LIBOR, subject to terms and
conditions found in the Revolving Credit Facility agreement, and expires on January 1, 2003. Borrowings on the
Revolving Credit Facility are limited by a borrowing base related to a percentage of our eligible cash and cash
equivalents, less outstanding amounts owed to Bank One. As of December 31, 2001, there were no amounts
outstanding under the Revolving Credit Facility nor have there been any borrowings on the Revolving Credit
Facility since it was established. See Additional Capital in Exhibit 99.1.

At December 31, 2001, accounts receivable decreased by 12.9%, or $1.3 million, compared to December 31, 2000.
In addition, Catalyst had reserves of $900,000 for doubtful accounts and $147,000 for known and estimated project
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cost overruns. This compares to $1.2 million and $219,000 for the same reserves at December 31, 2000. We
believe we have adequately provided for potential risks with respect to accounts receivable and project reserves
known or anticipated at this time.

Our future capital requirements will depend on numerous factors including the level and timing of revenue, the
resources we devote to marketing and selling our products and services, and our future investments in product
development. We currently anticipate that our current cash and cash equivalents will be sufficient to meet our
anticipated needs for working capital and capital expenditures for at least the next 12 months. Based on our current
expectations, we believe we will not require additional funds beyond the next 12 months. However, if we make
strategic acquisitions, if our growth rate exceeds our expectations, or if we expend significant funds to develop new
or enhanced products or services, we may require additional equity or debt financing. Additional financing may not
be available to us on favorable terms, or at all. If adequate funds are not available on acceptable terms, we may not
be able to continue to expand our business operations which could harm our business, results of operations, and
financial condition.

Ttem 7a. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk

Catalyst does not believe that we have material exposure to market risk with respect to any investments as we do not
use market rate-sensitive instruments for trading or other purposes. For purposes of the consolidated statements of
cash flows, we consider all highly liquid investments with a maturity of three months or less when purchased to be
cash equivalents. Cash equivalents consist principally of investments in corporate debt securities and commercial
paper. The cost of these securities, which are considered as “available for sale” for financial reporting purposes,
approximated fair value at both December 31, 2001 and 2000. There were no realized gains or losses in any of the
three years in the period ended December 31, 2001.

Catalyst International, Inc.
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Consolidated Statements of Operations

Years Ended December 31, 2001 2000 1999
Revenues:
Software $2,759,913 $ 8,451,526 $ 7,575,529
Services and post-contract customer support 23,960,234 28,222,224 25,598,635
Hardware 5,783,723 5,336,708 7,385,996
Total Revenues 32,503,870 42,010,458 40,560,160
Cost of Revenues:
Cost of software 962,830 797,117 606,429
Cost of services and post-contract customer support 17,681,132 16,632,253 14,921,412
Cost of hardware 4,840,001 4361,113 6,259,894
Total Cost of Revenues 23,483,963 21,790,483 21,787,735
Gross Margin 9,019,907 20,219,975 18,772,425
Operating Expenses:
Product development 5,200,691 5,300,762 7,637,636
Sales and marketing 9,007,688 9,254,354 7,158,726
General and administrative 6,622,065 4,793,251 6,574,804
Restructuring and other charges (Note 9) 1,927,098 -~ 397,655
Asset impairment charges (Note 9) 5,696,866 - 3,190,000
Total Operating Expenses 28,454,408 19,348,367 24,958,831
Income (Loss) From Operations (19,434,501) 871,608 (6,186,406)
Other Income (Expense):
Interest expense (26,535) (53,235) (63,057)
Investment income 565,050 1,389,546 685,692
Miscellaneous, net (expense) (30,437 (444,773) (49,560)
Total Other Income, Net 508,078 891,538 573,075
Net Income (Loss) $(18,926,423) 1,763,146 $(5,613,331)
Earnings (loss) per share (Note 1):
Basic $(2.38) $022 $(0.77)
Diluted $(2.38) $0.21 $(0.77)

See accompanying notes.
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Consolidated Balance Sheets

December 31, 2001 2000
Assets
Current Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 7,906,342 $21,200,662
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful
accounts of $900,000 in 2001 and $1,185,000 in 2000 8,949,582 10,269,520
Revenues in excess of billings - 269,813
Prepaid expenses and other 650,971 542,718
Total Current Assets 17,506,895 32,282,713
Equipment and Leasehold Improvements:
Computer hardware and software 7,169,718 8,001,802
Office equipment 2,372,316 2,467,415
Leaschold improvements 966,703 944,351
10,508,737 11,413,568
Less accumulated depreciation 7,387,677 6,850,493
Total Equipment and Leasehold Improvements 3,121,060 4,563,075
Capitalized software development costs, net of accumulated
amortization of $479,376 in 2001and $35,440 in 2000 1,748,278 1,759,697
Intangible assets, net of accumulated
amortization of $1,950,282 in 2001 1,514,718 -
Total Assets $23,890,951 $38,605,485
Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity
Current Liabilities:
Accounts payable $ 3,606,493 $ 3,305,526
Accrued liabilities 1,347,886 1,847,951
Accrued professional and legal fees 1,583,084 1,008,504
Accrued non-compete obligation 1,098,000 -
Deferred revenues 8,206,654 6,101,749
Current portion of capital lease obligations (Note 3) 118,454 246,265
Total Current Liabilities 15,952,571 12,509,995
Noncurrent Liabilities:
Capital lease obligations (Note 3) 30,495 165,574
Deferred revenues 1,565,281 84,691
Deferred rent (Note 3) 150,922 199,868
Total Noncurrent Liabilities 1,746,698 450,133
Commitments and contingencies (Notes 3 and 10)
Shareholders’ Equity (Notes 4 and 5):
Preferred stock, $0.01 par value; 2,000,000
shares authorized; none issued or outstanding - ~
Common stock, $0.10 par value; 25,000,000 shares authorized,
shares issued: 9,214,744 in 2001 and 9,200,943 in 2000 921,474 920,094
Additional paid-in capital 43,686,140 43,666,435
Accumulated deficit (32,622,111) (13,695,688)
Treasury stock, at cost — 1,420,275 shares of common stock
in 2001 and 1,162,331 shares of common stock in 2000 (5,793,821) (5,245,484)
Total Shareholders’ Equity 6,191,682 25,645,357
Total Liabilities and Shareholders® Equity $23,890,951 $38,605,485

See accompanying notes.
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Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Years Ended December 31, 2001 2000 1999
Operating Activities
Net income (loss) $(18,926,423) $ 1,763,146 $(5,613,331)
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net
cash provided by (used in) operating activities:
Depreciation 1,543,936 1,780,715 1,660,703
Amortization 2,394,218 35,440 -~
Compensation expense on stock options 1,909 - 341,424
(Gain) loss on disposal of equipment
and leasehold improvements (5,447) 181,128 87,436
Provision for restructuring and other charges - - 397,665
Asset impairment charges 5,696,866 - 3,190,000
Changes in operating assets and
liabilities:
Accounts receivable 1,319,938 (162,712) (392,491)
Prepaid expenses and other (108,253) 235,298 (284,000)
Accounts payable 300,967 1,068,640 492,896
Income taxes - - (100,000)
Accrued liabilities 74,515 327,649 (197,014)
Deferred revenues 3,855,308 (819,155) 1,746,245
Deferred rent (48,946) (65,753) (19,532)
Total adjustments 15,025,011 2,581,250 6,923,332
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities (3,901,412) 4,344 396 1,310,001
Investing Activities
Capital expenditures (1,134,301) (2,714,796) (837,446)
Capitalized software development costs (1,004,383) (1,795,137) (566,119)
Purchase of licensed technology (7,500,000) - -
Proceeds from sale of equipment 120,447 - -
Proceeds from sale of internal use software 917,380 - -
Net cash used in investing activities (8,600,857) (4,509,933) (1,403,565)
Financing Activities
Payments on capital lease obligations (262,890) (404,081) (442,109)
Proceeds from exercise of stock options 19,176 1,083,011 771,278
Proceeds from sale of common stock ~ -~ 12,378,369
Purchase of common stock for treasury (548,337) (481,910) —
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities (792,051) 197,020 12,707,538
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash
equivalents (13,294,320) 31,483 12,613,974
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 21,200,662 21,169,179 8,555,205
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year $ 7,906,342 $21,200,662 $21,169,179
Supplemental disclosure:
Cash paid for interest $ 26,535 $ 353,235 $ 63,057
Cash paid for income taxes - - 74,950

Noncash investing and financing activities:

During 2001, the Company entered into a non-compete agreement for $1,090,000. In 2000 and 1999, the Company

acquired $300,993, and $157,431 respectively, of computer hardware under capital [eases.

See accompanying notes.
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Notes To Consolidated Financial Statements / December 31, 2001

1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Consolidation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Catalyst and its wholly owned
subsidiaries. All significant intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

Business and Concentration of Credit Risk

Catalyst develops, markets, and supports SCE software products. Catalyst also provides related services, including
engagement services, customer education and training, customer support, consulting services, facilities
managements, and enabling technologies for customers throughout the United States and certain foreign countries.
Catalyst performs periodic credit evaluations of its customers’ financial condition and does not require collateral.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the
accompanying financial statements and notes. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Catalyst considers all highly liquid investments with a maturity of three months or less when purchased to be cash
equivalents. Cash equivalents consist principally of investments in corporate debt securities and commercial paper.
The cost of these securities, which are considered “available for sale” for financial reporting purposes, approximates
fair value at both December 31, 2001 and 2000. There were no realized gains or losses during any of the three years
in the period ended December 31, 2001.

FEquipment and Leasehold Improvements

Equipment and leasehold improvements are recorded at cost and are depreciated on the straight-line basis over their
estimated useful lives as follows: computer hardware and software—three to five years; office equipment—five to
seven years; and leasehold improvements—ten years (though no longer than the term of the lease).

Capitalized Software Development Costs

As required by accounting principles generally accepted in the United States, Catalyst capitalizes costs incurred to
develop new software products upon determination that technological feasibility has been established for the
product, whereas costs incurred prior to the establishment of technological feasibility are charged to expense. The
establishment of technological feasibility and the ongoing assessment of recoverability of software costs require
considerable judgment by management with respect to certain external factors, including, but not limited to, product
feasibility, anticipated future gross revenues, estimated economic life, and changes in software and hardware
technologies.

When the software product is available for general release to customers, capitalization ceases and such costs are
amortized on a product-by-product basis. The annual amortization is the greater of the amount computed using (a)
the ratio that current gross revenues for the product bear to the total of current and anticipated future gross revenues
for the product or (b) the straight-line method over the estimated economic life of the product or three years.

Intangible Assets

Intangible assets as of December 31, 2001 include $515,000 for the unamortized portion of a non-compete
agreement which is being amortized over the term of the agreement which ends in October 2002 and licensed
technology with a remaining carrying value of $1,000,000 which is being amortized over its estimated useful life of
five years.
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Impairment of Long-Lived and Intangible Assets

Equipment and leasehold improvements, capitalized software development costs, and intangible assets are reviewed
for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be
recoverable. If the sum of the expected undiscounted future cash flows is less than the carrying value of the related
asset or group of assets, a loss is recognized for the difference between the fair value and the carrying value of the
asset or group of assets. Such analyses necessarily involve significant judgment. See Note 9 for impairment
charges in 2001 and 1999.

Revenue Recognition

Catalyst derives revenue from the sale of software, services and PCS, and hardware. PCS includes telephone
support, bug fixes, and rights to upgrades on a when-and-if-available basis. Services range from installation,
training, and basic consulting to software modification and customization to meet specific customer needs. In
software arrangements that include rights to multiple software products, specified upgrades, PCS and/or other
services, Catalyst allocates the total arrangement fee to each deliverable based on the relative fair value of each of
the deliverables determined based on vendor-specific objective evidence.

Software

For software with insignificant modifications, Catalyst recognizes that portion of the revenue allocable to software
and specified upgrades upon delivery of the software product or upgrade to the end user, provided that it is
considered collectibie. For software with significant modifications, Catalyst recognizes the revenue allocable to the
software on a percentage of completion method, with progress to completion measured based upon labor time
expended.

Post-Contract Customer Support
Revenue allocable to PCS is recognized on a straight-line basis over the period the PCS is provided.
Services

Arrangements that include professional services are evaluated to determine whether those services are for
modification of the software product or for the normal implementation of Catalyst software products. When
professional services are considered part of the normal implementation process, revenue is recognized monthly as
these services are invoiced. When professional services are for a modification of the software itself, an evaluation is
made to determine if the modification requires more than 50 person-days of work. If the modification will exceed
50 days of effort, revenue is recognized using contract accounting on a percentage completion method with progress
to completion measured based upon labor time expended. When the modification is estimated to be fewer than 50
days, the revenue is recognized as invoiced.

Hardware

Revenue on hardware is recognized when the hardware is shipped by the hardware vendor and title has transferred
to the customer.

Contract Accounting

For arrangements that include significant customization or modification of the software, revenue is recognized using
contract accounting. Revenue from these software arrangements is recognized on a percentage of completion basis,
with progress to completion measured based upon labor time expended. Catalyst reserves for project cost overruns
when such overruns are identified. Included in accrued liabilities are reserves for project cost overruns of $147,000
and $219,000 at December 31, 2001 and 2000, respectively.

Advertising

Advertising costs are expensed as incurred and amounted to approximately $837,000, $878,000, and $739,000 in
2001, 2000, and 1999, respectively.
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Income Taxes

Deferred income taxes are provided for temporary differences between the financial reporting and income tax basis
of assets and liabilities and are measured using currently enacted tax rates and laws.

Comprehensive Income

Comprehensive income (loss) equals net income (loss) in 2001, 2000, and 1999.

Reclassilication

Certain reclassifications have been made to the 2000 and 1999 financial statements to conform to the current year
presentation.

Farnings (Loss) Per Share

The numerator for the calculation of basic and diluted earnings per share is net income (loss) in each year. The
following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted weighted average shares used in the per share
calculations:

2001 2000 1999

Denominator for basic earnings per share —

weighted average shares outstanding 7,961,676 8,023,380 7,288,157
Effect of dilutive options and warrants ~ 428,167 -
Denominator for diluted earnings

(loss) per share 7,961,676 8,451,547 7,288,157
Options that could potentially dilute

earnings per share in the future that

are not included in the computation of

diluted earnings (loss) per share, as

their impact is antidilutive 200,905 N/A 653,203

Accounting Pronouncements

Effective January 1, 2001, Catalyst adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (Statement) No. 133,
“Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities,” as amended. Provisions of Statement No. 133
Tequire companies to recognize all derivatives in the balance sheet at fair value. As Catalyst is not party to any
derivative transactions, the adoption did not have any effect on the results of operations or financial position of
Catalyst.

In August 2001, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued Statement No. 144, “Accounting for the
Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets,” which addresses financial accounting and reporting for the
impairment or disposal of long-lived assets. Catalyst will adopt Statement No. 144 effective January 1, 2002, and
we do not expect that the adoption of the Statement will have a significant impact on Catalyst’s financial position or
results of operations.

2. BANK LINE OF CREDIT

Catalyst has a $5,000,000 bank line of credit. The line of credit, which is due on demand, requires monthly interest
payments at rates tied to the prime rate or LIBOR and is secured by substantially all of Catalyst’s assets. The line of
credit expires on January 1, 2003. Borrowings on the line of credit are limited by a borrowing base related to a
percentage of Catalyst’s eligible investments, less outstanding amounts owed under the line of credit. No amounts
were outstanding under the line of credit at December 31, 2001 or 2000 nor have there been any borrowings on the
line of credit since it was established.
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3. CaprIral LEASE OBLIGATIONS AND LEASE COMMITMENTS

Capital lease obligations consisted of the following at December 31:

2001 2000

Capital lease obligations $148,949 $411,839
Less current portion (118,454) (246,265)

$ 30,495 $ 163,574

Catalyst leases computer equipment and a telephone system under capital leases requiring monthly payments in
varying amounts through April 2004, with effective interest rates ranging from 7.5% to 10.5%. At December 31,
2001, the gross amount of equipment recorded under capital leases and related accumulated amortization was
approximately $824,000 and $673,000, respectively. At December 31, 2000, the cost and accumulated amortization
of equipment recorded under capital leases were approximately $1,597,000 and $1,147,000, respectively.

Catalyst also leases its corporate office space under two operating leases that extend through January 2006. Catalyst
is recognizing rent expense on a straight-line basis, which differs from the pattern of payments required by the lease.
Catalyst is required to pay real estate taxes, maintenance, utilities, and insurance on the leased buildings.

At December 31, 2001, future payments under capital and operating leases with remaining terms in excess of one
year were as follows:

Capital Leases Operating Leases

2002 $127,014 § 695,426
2003 28,864 646,395
2004 2,516 596,919
2005 - 622,157
2006 - 75,794
Thereafter - —
Total minimum lease obligations 158,394 $2,636,691
Amounts representing interest 9,445

Capital lease obligation $148,949

Total rent expense, including executory costs, on all operating leases was approximately $1,369,000, $1,211,000,
and $1,148,000 in 2001, 2000, and 1999, respectively.

4. SHAREHOLDERS’® EQUITY

In September 1999, Catalyst sold 759,485 shares of its common stock to SAP America, Inc. (SAP) for $12,378,369,
net of issuance costs of $532,876. In addition, Catalyst and SAP AG (the parent company of SAP) entered into a
Strategic Alliance Agreement to integrate Catalyst’s software products with software systems already sold by SAP
and to establish a support center to help customers implement and support Catalyst’s software and SAP’s LES
software.

In March 1996, Catalyst’s board of directors authorized a repurchase program for up to 700,000 shares of its
common stock from the open market. During 2001 and 2000, Catalyst repurchased 257,944 and 99,068 shares of its
common stock under this program for $548,337 and $481,910, respectively. At December 31, 2001, Catalyst is
authorized to repurchase an additional 108,856 shares.

5. STOCK OPTIONS AND WARRANTS

Catalyst has three employee stock option plans (collectively, the “Employee Plans™). The 1993 Stock Option Plan,
as amended, allows Catalyst to grant up to 3,000,000 incentive stock options and/or nonqualified stock options to
employees. Effective December 1, 2000, the Board of Directors increased the number of shares available under the
1993 Employee Plan to 3,063,226. The 2001 Stock Option Plan allows Catalyst to grant up to 1,000,000 incentive
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stock options and/or nonqualified stock options to employees. The UK-Approved Stock Option Plan allows
Catalyst to grant up to 500,000 nonqualified stock options to employees of its UK subsidiary.

Each option granted under the Employee Plans entitles the holder to purchase one share of common stock at the
specified option price. The option term is 10 years. With certain exceptions, options vest 20% on the first
anniversary of either the date of employment or the date of grant and then ratably over the following 48 months.
Generally, the exercise price is equal to the market price of the underlying stock on the date of grant. For 200,000
options granted in 2001, the exercise price was $0.10 lower than the market price of the underlying stock on the date
of the grant. Accordingly, compensation expense is being recorded for these options over the vesting period.

Catalyst has a 1997 Director Stock Option Plan (the “Director Plan”), whereby each director was granted options to
purchase 10,000 shares of common stock on the effective date of the Director Plan and is entitled to be granted
options to purchase 5,000 shares of common stock on each anniversary of the Director Plan. The exercise price of
each grant is equal to the market price of Catalyst’s common stock on the date of grant. The Director Plan provides
for the issuance of 250,000 nonqualified stock options to directors. The options are exercisable for 10 years from
the date of grant.

The following table summarizes information with respect to Catalyst’s Employee and Director Plans for the three
years ended December 31, 2001:

Weighted
Average Number of
Number of Option Exercise Options
Opticns Price per Share Exercisable
Qutstanding at December 31, 1998 1,805,097 $4.47 770,142
Granted 547,086 11.82
Exercised (171,891) 449
Canceled (126,915) 8.62
Outstanding at December 31, 1999 2,053,377 6.18 967,312
Granted 850,160 5.51
Exercised (261,679) 4.14
Canceled (391,343) 10.08
QOutstanding at December 31, 2000 2,250,515 5.49 1,039,764
Granted 803,825 2.89
Exercised (13,801) 1.39
Canceled (900,063) 6.13
Qutstanding at December 31, 2001 2,140,476 $4.27 901,394

At December 31, 2001, 1,732,259 options were available for grant under the Employee and Director Plans. As of
December 31, 2001, the range of exercise prices on outstanding options is as follows:

Number of Weighted Number of
Options Average Options
Qutstanding Exercise Price = Exercisable

Price range $0.10 to $3.86, weighted

average contractual life of 7.6 years 1,355,049 $ 2.85 576,274
Price range $4.00 to $8.50, weighted

average contractual life of 8.3 years 632,332 5.16 218,748
Price range $10.00 to $13.94, weighted

average contractual life of 7.1 years 128,953 12.87 93,684
Price range $14.00 to $17.75, weighted

average contractual life of 7.4 years 24,142 15.17 12,688

Catalyst has an outstanding warrant for the purchase of 10,000 shares of its common stock at $3.50 per share, the
market price of the underlying stock as of the modification date in 1997. The term was extended to 10 years after
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the modification date, and the vesting period was reset so that the warrant vests 20% one year after the modification
date and then ratably over the following 48 months.

Catalyst has reserved 3,882,735 shares of common stock at December 31, 2001, to provide for the exercise of
outstanding stock options and warrants and the granting of stock options.

As permitted by FASB Statement No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation,” Catalyst has elected to
follow APB Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees,” in accounting for its employee stock
option plans. Had Catalyst accounted for its employee stock option plans based upon the fair value at the grant date
as set forth in Statement No. 123, Catalyst’s pro forma net income (loss) and pro forma income (loss) per share
would have been as follows (for purposes of pro forma disclosures, the estimated fair value of the options is
amortized to expense over the options’ vesting period):

2001 2000 1999
Pro forma net income (loss) ($19,503,766)  $842,606 $(6,518,779)
Pro forma diluted income (loss) per share $(2.45) $0.10 $(0.89)

The weighted-average grant date option fair values used in the above pro forma disclosures were $2.31, $4.23, and
$9.99 per share for 2001, 2000, and 1999 option grants, respectively.

As required by Statement No. 123, Catalyst has determined the pro forma information as if Catalyst had accounted
for stock options granted since January 1, 1995, under the Statement No. 123 fair value method. For grants made
prior to Catalyst becoming a public company, the minimum value method was used to estimate the fair value of the
options. For grants made after Catalyst’s initial public offering in November 1995, the Black-Scholes method was
used. With the exception of volatility (which is ignored in the case of the minimum value method), the following
weighted average assumptions were used for 2001, 2000, and 1999, respectively: risk-free interest rates of 4.5%,
6.5%, and 5.9%; dividend yields of 0%; expected common stock market price volatility factors of 1.09, 0.98, and
0.94; and a weighted average expected life of the options of five years.

6. RETIREMENT PLAN

Catalyst sponsors an employee savings and retirement plan in which all employees over 21 years of age with one
month of service are eligible to participate. Participants can elect to defer up to 15% of their compensation in
accordance with Section 401(k) of the Internal Revenue Code. Catalyst, at its discretion, can match up to 100% of
the employees’ contributions. Company contributions to the plan were approximately $118,000, $310,000, and
$293,000 in 2001, 2000, and 1999, respectively.

7. INCOME TAXES

The provision for income taxes consisted of the following:

Years Ended December 31, 2001 2000 1999
Current:

Federal $ - $ - $ -
State - — -
Foreign - - ~

Deferred (7,231,000) 42,000 (2,554,000)
Change in valuation allowance 7,231,000 (42,000) 2,554,000
$ - $ - $ ~
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The provision for income taxes differs from the statutory U.S. federal income tax rate due to the following:

Years Ended December 31, 2001 2000 1999
Provision (benefit) at U.S. statutory rate $(6,435,000) $599,000 $(1,908,000)
State effect of change in deferred tax assets (1,019,000) 142,000 (216,000)
General business credits 167,000 (232,000) (478,000)
Change in valuation allowance 7,231,000 {566,000) 2,554,000
Permanent differences, net 56,000 57,000 48,000
$ - $ — $ —

At December 31, 2001, Catalyst had net operating loss carry forwards of approximately $27,824,000 and
$27,882,000 for federal and state income tax purposes, respectively, which expire between 2008 and 2021. Of these
net operating loss carry forwards, $5,839,000 were created by deductions from the exercise of nonqualified stock
options from 1995 through 2001. The tax benefit realized upon the use of net operating loss carry forwards in future
years related to such deductions will be credited directly to additional paid-in capital. At December 31, 2001,
Catalyst had general business credit carry forwards of $1,103,000 and $329,000 for federal and state income tax
purposes, respectively, which expire from 2006 through 2021. At December 31, 2001, Catalyst had $96,000 of
alternative minimum tax (AMT) credits which do not expire.

Annual limitations on the use of these loss and credit carry-forwards due to changes in ownership are not expected
to materially impact Catalyst.

The tax effects of temporary differences between financial reporting and income tax bases of assets and liabilities
were as follows:

December 31, 2001 2000
Deferred tax assets:
AMT and general business credits $ 1,528,000 $ 1,695,000
Net operating loss carry forwards 10,910,000 5,457,000
Deferred revenue and accrued project costs 1,168,000 85,000
Intangible assets 425,000 -
Allowance for doubtful accounts 352,000 464,000
Deferred rent 59,000 78,000
Accrued compensation 427,000 136,000
Other 19,000 25,000
14,888,000 7,940,000
Deferred tax liabilities:
Depreciation (56,000) (335,000)
Capitalized software development costs  (686,000) (690,000)
(742,000) (1,025,000)
Net deferred tax assets 14,146,000 6,915,000
Valuation allowance (14,146,000) (6,915,000)
$ - $ -

The valuation allowance at December 31, 2001 and 2000, was provided because of uncertainty based on Catalyst’s
historical operating results, with respect to realization of deferred tax assets.

8. SEGMENT DISCLOSURE AND MAJOR CUSTOMERS

Catalyst operates in one industry segment. There were no sales to individual customers that exceeded 10% of
revenues in 2001 or 2000. Sales to one customer in 1999 totaled 10% of revenues.
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International revenues accounted for 15.8%, 15.1%, and 18.7% of total revenues in 2001, 2000, and 1999,
respectively. Revenues by geographic area were as follows:

Years Ended December 31, 2001 2000 1999
United States $27,355,412 $35,671,261 $32,988,868
United Kingdom 2,093,832 2,581,446 2,580,679
France * 1,105,902 *
Canada * * 1,276,174
Holland * * 1,834,100
Countries in which revenues

did not exceed $1 million 3,054,622 2,651,849 1,880,339

$32,503,866 $42,010,458 $40,560,160

*Revenues did not exceed $1 million.

9. RESTRUCTURING, IMPAIRMENT, AND OTHER CHARGES

During 2001, there were several events that resulted in an aggregate charge of $7,623,964, which represented
restructuring and other charges of $1,927,098 and asset impairment charges of $5,696,866. The former president
and chief executive officer resigned in March 2001. Catalyst recorded charges aggregating $1,130,949 relating to
amortization of a non-compete agreement and other expenses related to his resignation. In the third quarter of 2001,
Catalyst initiated a restructuring plan and overall workforce reduction of approximately 15%. Charges of $796,149
were recorded for severance payments and outplacement services related to this workforce reduction. Catalyst also
reviewed the carrying values of certain licensed technology and capitalized software development costs and
recorded an impairment charge of $5,696,866 to adjust the carrying values of such assets to their estimated fair
market values. All cash expense amounts were disbursed in the year ended December 31, 2001, except for
approximately $183,000, which will be paid out in 2002. The obligations under the non-compete agreement are also
payable in 2002.

During the third quarter of 1999, Catalyst initiated a restructuring plan to discontinue development of its Windows
NT-based product and close its Orlando, Florida office. The restructuring plan was put in place due to the Strategic
Alliance Agreement with SAP AG. Because of the Strategic Alliance Agreement, Catalyst made significant
management changes and plans to further expand its marketing efforts to increase exposure of its UNIX WMS
products and services.

Restructuring and impairment charges during the year ended December 31, 1999 amounted to $3,587,665 and
included severance payments made to seven employees ($325,000); office and equipment lease cancetlations
(825,000); write-off of intangible assets, including purchased software and capitalized software development costs,
assembled workforce, customer list, and goodwill ($3,190,000); and other miscellaneous expenses ($48,000). All
cash expense amounts were disbursed in the year ended December 31, 1999.

10. CONTINGENCIES

On October 8, 1999, a former customer (the Claimant) instituted an arbitration proceeding against Catalyst with the
American Arbitration Association in Milwaukee, Wisconsin. The Claimant alleged breach of warranty and sought
relief in the form of monetary damages in excess of $1.9 million. An arbitration award was issued on January 2,
2002 in favor of the Claimant in the amount of $799,840, plus interest at 5% from December 7, 2001. Catalyst filed
a motion to vacate this award for non-compliance with the applicable arbitration procedures. On January 29, 2002,
the Claimant filed a petition to confirm the award. At this stage in the proceedings, it is not possible to predict the
probable outcome of either Catalyst’s motion or the Claimant’s petition. Catalyst believes that because it has
adequately reserved for this matter, the outcome of this proceeding will not have a material effect on its financial
position or results of operations.

Catalyst is involved in various other claims and legal matters of a routine nature which are being handled in the
ordinary course of business. Although it is not possible to predict with certainty the outcome of these unresolved
claims and legal matters or the range of possible loss or recovery, we believe that these unresolved claims and legal
matters will not have a material effect on our financial position or results of operations.
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Report of Ernst & Young LLP, Independent Auditors

The Board of Directors and Shareholders
Catalyst International, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Catalyst International, Inc. (the Company) as of
December 31, 2001 and 2000, and the related consolidated statements of operations, shareholders’ equity and cash
flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2001. Our audits also included the financial
statement schedule listed in the index at Item 14(a). These financial statements and schedule are the responsibility
of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements and
schedule based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States. Those
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial
statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the
amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used
and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation.
We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the
consolidated financial position of the Company at December 31, 2001 and 2000, and the consolidated results of its
operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2001, in conformity with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States. Also, in our opinion, the related financial statement
schedule, when considered in relation to the basic financial statements, taken as a whole, presents fairly in all
material respects the information set forth therein.

Ernst & Young LLP

Milwaukee, Wisconsin
February 1, 2002

Item 9. Changes In and Disagreements With Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

Catalyst had no changes in or disagreements with its accountants on accounting and financial disclosure in 2001.

PART III
Item 10. Directors and Executive Officers of the Registrant

Directors

Catalyst incorporates by reference herein the information contained under the caption, "Election of Directors," in the
Proxy Statement for the 2002 Annual Meeting of Shareholders (the Proxy Statement). Catalyst also incorporates by
reference herein the information contained under the caption, “Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting
Compliance,” in the Proxy Statement.

Executive Officers

James B. Treleaven 55 President and Chief Executive Officer

John K. Gorman 47 Executive Vice President—Operations

David H. Jacobson 41 Executive Vice President—Finance and Chief Financial Officer
Michael D. Pridavka 39 Executive Vice President—Sales and Marketing

Mr. Treleaven joined Catalyst on July 2, 2001 as President and Chief Executive Officer. Mr. Treleaven was elected
a director of Catalyst and its wholly owned subsidiary, Catalyst WMS International Limited, on July 25, 2001. Prior

Catalyst International, Inc.
Form 10-K (2001) / Page 30




to joining Catalyst, Mr. Treleaven was with Global CommerceZone, an Internet infrastructure organization focused
on enabling international e-commerce, from January 2000 to June 2001 and served as President and CEO from
January 2000 to January 2001. From January 1998 to January 2000, Mr. Treleaven served as president of the
Enterprise Solutions Division (formerly Dun & Bradstreet Software) at Geac Computer Corporation, a provider of
mission-critical software and systems solutions, and from July 1996 to January 1998, he served as vice president of
marketing at Moore Corporation, one of the world's largest suppliers of business forms and services.

Mr. Gorman has served as Executive Vice President—Operations since October 2001. Mr. Gorman joined Catalyst
on September 1, 2001 as Senior Vice President—Client Services. Prior to joining Catalyst, Mr. Gorman served as
senior vice president—client services at Global CommerceZone, an Internet infrastructure organization focused on
enabling international e-commerce, from February 2000 to August 2001. From December 1998 to February 2000,
he served as a business unit leader for Axciom Corporation, an international provider of comprehensive information
management solutions using customer, consumer and business data. From August 1989 to December 1999, Mr.
Gorman served in various roles, the most recent being director—customer systems, at Moore Corporation, one of the
world's largest suppliers of business forms and services.

Mr. Jacobson joined Catalyst in October 2001 as Executive Vice President—Finance and Chief Financial Officer.
Prior to joining Catalyst, Mr. Jacobson served as senior vice president and chief financial officer at Global
CommerceZone, an Internet infrastructure organization focused on enabling international e-commerce, from
November 2000 to September 2001 and as executive vice president and chief financial officer at Coolsavings.com
from October 1998 to October 2000. From January 1996 through October 1998, Mr. Jacobson served as chief
financial officer and treasurer at SMS Technology Inc., a value added packer and distributor of specialized chemical
products.

Mr. Pridavka has served as Executive Vice President—Sales & Marketing since October 2001. From August 2000
to October 2001, Mr. Pridavka served as Vice President—North American Sales. Prior to joining Catalyst, Mr.
Pridavka worked for Rockwell Software from October 1994 to May 2000, where he was responsible for worldwide
software sales, most recently as sales manager.

Item 11, Executive Compensation

Catalyst incorporates by reference herein the information contained under the caption "Executive Compensation" in
the Proxy Statement. Catalyst also incorporates by reference herein the information contained under the caption,
"Non-Employee Director Compensation,"” in the Proxy Statement.

Item 12. Secwrity Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management

Catalyst incorporates by reference herein the information contained under the caption "Security Ownership of
Certain Beneficial Owners" in the Proxy Statement.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions

Catalyst incorporates by reference herein the information contained under the caption, "Certain Relationships and
Related Transactions," in the Proxy Statement.

PART IV

Item 14. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules, and Reports on Form 8-K
(a) Financial Statements and Schedules

The consolidated financial statements as set forth under Item 8 of this report on Form 10-K and the Exhibit
Listing as set forth under [tem 14(c) of this report on Form 10-K are filed as part of this report.

The following consolidated financial statement schedule of Catalyst International, Inc. is included in Item 14(d):
1I. Valuation and Qualifying Accounts. '
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All other financial statement schedules have been omitted since the required information is not present or is not
present in amounts sufficient to require submission of the schedule, or because the information required is
included in the consolidated financial statements or the notes thereto.

{(b) Reports on Form 8-K
No reports on Form 8-K were filed during the fourth quarter of 2001.
(c) Exhibit Listing

Number Description
3.1 Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation incorporated by reference to Registration
Statement 33-97522C on Form SB-2
3.2 Amended and Restated By-Laws incorporated by reference to Registration Statement 33-

97522C on Form SB-2

10.1 1993 Stock Option Plan, as amended, of Catalyst USA, Inc.* incorporated by reference to
Registration Statement 33-97522C on Form SB-2

10.2 1997 Director Stock Option Plan of Catalyst International, Inc.* incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 4.1 of Registration Statement 33-97522C on Form S-8 dated September 26, 1997

10.3 Letter Agreement with Douglas B. Coder dated October 23, 1998* incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.3 on Form 10-K for the period ended December 31, 2000

10.4 Subscription Agreement among SAP America, Inc., SAP Aktiengesellschaft and
Catalyst International, Inc. dated August 31, 1999 incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4 on
Form 8-K dated September 20, 1999

10.5 Commercial Guaranty dated September 17, 1999 incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7 on
Form 10-K for the period ended December 31, 2000

10.6 Letter Agreement with Douglas B. Coder dated December 3, 1999* incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.9 on Form 10-K for the period ended December 31, 2000

10.7 Letter Agreement with Michael D. Pridavka dated October 13, 2000* incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 10.13 on Form 10-K for the period ended December 31, 2000

10.8 2001 Employee Stock Option Plan* incorporated by reference to Appendix B of the Proxy
Statement dated March 26, 2001

10.9 Company Share Option Scheme* incorporated by reference to Appendix C of the Proxy
Statement dated March 26, 2001

10.10  Separation Agreement with Sean P. McGowan dated April 2, 2001

10.11  Employment Agreement with James B. Treleaven dated June 28, 2001* incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10 on Form 10-Q for the period ended June 30, 2001

10.12  Letter Agreement with David H. Jacobson dated October 1, 2001*

10.13  Letter Agreement with John K. Gorman dated October 24, 2001*

21 Subsidiaries of the Registrant

23 Consent of Auditors

99.1 Cautionary Statement Regarding Forward-Looking Information and Risk Factors

* Represents a management contract or compensation plan.

Pursuant to the requirements of Rule 14a-3(b)(10) of the Securities Act of 1934, as amended, Catalyst will,
upon request and upon payment of a reasonable fee not to exceed the rate at which such copies are available
from the Securities and Exchange Commission, furnish copies to its shareholders of any Exhibits in the Exhibit
Listing.
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(d) Financial Statement Schedule

Valuation and Qualifying Accounts
(in thousands)

Balance at Charged to Balance
beginning costsand  Deductions at end
Description of period expense (additions) of period
Year ended December 31, 2001
Allowance for doubtful accounts $1,185 $1,042 $1,327 $ 900
Year ended December 31, 2000
Allowance for doubtful accounts 1,256 615 686 1,185
Year ended December 31, 1999
Allowance for doubtful accounts 534 2,013 1,291 1,256
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has
duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized, in the City of
Milwaukee, State of Wisconsin, on April 1, 2002.

Catalyst International, Inc.
By: /s/ James B. Treleaven

James B. Treleaven
President and Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the
following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities indicated on April 1, 2002.

/s/ Douglas B. Coder Chairman of the Board
Douglas B. Coder
/s/ James B. Treleaven President and Chief Executive Officer
James B. Treleaven (Principal Executive Officer)
/s/ Rovy J. Carver, Jr. Director

Roy J. Carver, Jr.

/s/ James F. Goughenour Director
James F. Goughenour

/s/ Terrence L. Mealy Director
Terrence L. Mealy

/s/ David H. Jacobson Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
David H. Jacobson (Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)
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